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Who are we?

The City of Swan is geographically the 

largest local government in the Perth 

Metropolitan area, encompassing 

1,043 square kilometres of land and 

serving more than 90,000 residents. 

The Shire of Swan was formed in 1970 

and since then has developed into 

a City that is one of the most highly 

respected local governments in the 

State.

The City’s boundaries extend from 

Gidgegannup in the east to Ballajura 

in the west and from Bullsbrook in the 

north to Perth Airport in the south. 

Within its boundaries the City of Swan 

has two regional centres, several 

national parks and reserves, major 

industrial areas, historically important 

townsites, rural areas and fast-growing 

residential areas. This huge area 

comprises 40 suburbs of very diverse 

nature. The City has its administration 

centre located in Midland which is one 

of eight designated strategic regional 

centres within the Perth metropolitan 

area

Where are we going?

The City’s mission is to enhance 

our community’s image, lifestyle 

and environment through effective 

leadership, community involvement

and commitment to service

Our vision is to be an innovative 

organisation of highly skilled people 

providing valued services that enhance 

the quality of life in our community.

Our corporate values

Leadership
 providing clear direction and inspiring 

people to reach their full potential.

Openness
promoting an open and trusting 

environment.

Respect
valuing and acknowledging everyone’s 

contribution.

Excellence
developing and utilising our knowledge 

and skills to promote an innovative and 

competitive work environment.

Our corporate goals

The City’s Strategic Corporate Plan 

outlines the following Key Result Areas 

(KRA) for the City:

• KRA 1 - Leading the City of 

Swan – How the City will provide 

leadership and governance within our 

community. 

• KRA 2 - Developing the City of Swan 

– Relates to the development of 

physical infrastructure, land, business 

locations and community places.

• KRA 3 - Enhancing community 

well-being – What the City does 

that relates to social and community 

development, personal well-being, 

culture, health, safety, leisure and 

lifelong learning.

• KRA 4 - Valuing our natural 

environment – what the City of Swan 

does that relates to the protection 

and enhancement of our natural 

environment.

• KRA 5- Managing the organisation 

– Internal support and management 

for within the organisation that 

enables products and services to be 

delivered to the community and meet 

the City’s objectives.

This report outlines the City’s 

achievements according to these key 

areas.

Introduction to the City of Swan



Five year key summary of statistics

2001/02 2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06

Total number of residents 85,000 87,425 91,354 92,969 96,293

Total number of rateable properties 34,942 35,916 37,028 37,684 39,270

Minimum general residential rate $450 $465 $485 $500 $520

Rates levied (excluding refuse) $30.01m $32.43m $34.58m $37.5m $40.5m

Operating revenue $49.5m $54.8m $57.96m $59.36m $67.47m

Total current assets $14.9m $14.3m $14.7m $19.5m $25.6m

Capital grants revenue $2.47m $2.46m $2.70m $2.85m $5.70

Operating grants revenue $4.58m $4.95m $5.37m $5.98m $5.59m

Debt Servicing Ratio 4.7% 3.9% 3.3% 2.7% 2.3%

Full time equivalent staff 1 415 439 452 460 464

Planning applications received 2 706 832 757 1,079 1,262

Aged/Disabled persons assisted 3 954 1,036 1,132 1,160 1,360

Building applications received 3,351 3,297 3,635 3,879 4,261

Licensed dogs registered 4 5,415 4,139 5,463 5,091 6,356

Garbage services provided 33,192 34,405 35,132 36,114 36,817

Recycling services provided 32,092 32,354 33,031 33,966 33,340

Swan Park Leisure Centre attendance 316,800 305,809 248,972 302,000 290,000

Altone Park Leisure Centre attendance 283,800 318,190 291,435 308,000 325,000

Ballajura Leisure Centre attendance 137,420 139,625 120,539 133,000 126,000

Active registered library borrowers 47,774 47,206 48,249 44,168 46,554

Library loans of books and other items 5 803,854 841,291 809,509 803,366 767,333

1 The headcount of employees at 30th June 2006 was 662 (is equivalent to 464 full time staff).

2 In 2005/06, 1262 planning applications were received, of which 702 were specific development applications. It should be noted that a significant number of development 

applications in green field areas (in Ellenbrook, The Vines and The Vale) are exempt under the Scheme, because they are processed as part of the building applications which 

were in compliance with detailed area plans governing building envelope,  and solar setbacks

3. Swan Community Care Services had 1276 clients who received 67,627 occasions of care. Another 84 clients under the age 40 received care because of their disability. 

4 The City has 11,929 registered dogs, and during 2005/06 issued 6,356 new license or license renewals.

5. Besides books, items borrowed from the City libraries included magazines and a variety of electronic media including DVDs, Video, and CDs.
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Mayor’s Message

As the geographically largest metropolitan local government in Perth, the City 

of Swan is one of the most diverse local governments in Western Australia. 

Encompassing 1,043 square kilometres, the City includes industrial centres, local 

commercial hubs, regional commercial districts, agricultural areas, new suburbs, 

established suburbs, heritage precincts and more.

This presents a constant challenge for the City of Swan. How does a local 

government service so many different needs in the community?

During the 2005/06 financial year, the City of Swan focussed heavily on creating 

partnerships with government agencies, community groups and business groups. 

By working collaboratively with other organisations, the City ensures that all 

concerned are better positioned to understand and meet the community’s needs.

These partnerships will benefit many facets of our community and will work toward 

improving education for all ages, the environment, the provision of community 

facilities, business prospects, tourism, arts and culture and community safety.

Engaging with our community was again another focus in 2005/06, and to this 

end the City concentrated on involving community members in the decisions 

and programs that affect them. Community consultation, for example through 

the place planning process and the Midland Reference Group, was a vital part of 

the City’s processes. Similarly the City’s community development programs were 

centred around empowering community members and encouraging a higher level 

of involvement in the community, which will work to create stronger bonds in the 

community and a sense of ownership and pride.

Place planning and place management took a leap forward in 2005/06, with the 

City establishing its first of four place managers, covering the Altone and Ballajura 

wards. Place planning and place management are two programs dedicated 

entirely to understanding and meeting the needs of the different places in the City.

Of course, one of the City’s core functions is to provide necessary services 

and infrastructure for community members, and this year was no exception. 

Construction began on the community library at Ellenbrook, the Swan Valley Bike 

Path Network was extended, the Bullsbrook Neighbourhood Centre was saved 

from closure and the City closely evaluated the planning and infrastructure needs 

of both growth and established areas.

Overall, 2005/06 has been a good year and the City and Council look to build on 

its successes in 2006/07.

Cr C M Gregorini OAM JP

Mayor

City of Swan

“How does a local 
government service so 
many different needs in 
the community?”
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CEO’s Message

The City of Swan experienced a period of rapid growth in 2005/06 and the pace of 

development will not slow down for some time yet.

As such, this is an exciting time in the City. The faces of Midland and Ellenbrook 

are changing by the week, construction is booming and the City is preparing for a 

large influx of new residents in the next 15 years.

The City approved nearly twice as many commercial building licences in 2005/06, 

from 125 in 2004/05 to 243. Our commercial centres have gone from strength 

to strength this year, with large-scale commercial developments in the Midland 

Regional Centre, continuing growth in Malaga and the opening of the Ellenbrook 

town centre. These centres are set to provide for the needs of our residents for 

many years to come.

This commercial, industrial and residential development has prompted the City to 

dedicate its efforts to ensure the developments are sustainable in the long-term. 

The City is looking closely at planning and development issues, such as the Urban 

Growth Strategy, infrastructure requirements and other community needs and 

services for across both the new areas and more established areas.

One example has been the creation of an asset management plan, which will allow 

the City to better prepare for the life cycle of the City’s assets – from the concept 

of a facility to its replacement. At the end of the 2005/06 financial year, the City’s 

non-financial assets, including drainage, footpaths, buildings and more, were 

worth $897 million.

And while the City of Swan is growing larger, the City has also focused on 

interacting with residents on a closer level, with a continued focus on place-based 

planning and management. The City of Swan progressed more place plans, and 

established the City’s first place manager, responsible for the Ballajura and Altone 

wards.

Focusing on ‘places’ improves the City’s ability to address important issues for 

individual areas and allows the city to integrate flexible management tools tailored 

to each area.

Apart from planning and preparing for growth, the City of Swan has embarked 

on several major projects in 2005/06. Construction of the Ellenbrook community 

library began, roadworks expanded Lloyd Street in Midland to a dual carriageway, 

$235,000 was spend on playgrounds and the Swan Valley Bike Path was 

extended.

As CEO, I am particularly thankful for the support of the City Councillors and the 

hard work and dedication of City staff members. Together, we are committed to 

providing the best quality of life for the City’s residents and ratepayers today and in 

the future. I look forward to the challenges 2006/07 will bring.

MJ Foley

Chief Executive Officer

City of Swan

“Focusing on ‘places’ 
improves the City’s
ability to address 
important issues for 
individual areas”
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Council meeting attendance

Ordinary meetings Special meetings

Max possible number Actual number of Max possible number number of meetings of

meetings attended  meetings attended of meetings attended meetings attended

Cr F Alban 17 16 4 4

Cr K Bailey 17 16 4 3

Cr M Congerton 17 16 4 4

Cr S Croy 17 15 4 4

Cr D Fardig 17 15 4 3

Cr G Gregorini 17 15 4 4

Cr M Haynes 17 12 4 3

Cr J Holmes 17 15 4 4

Cr T Jones 17 17 4 3

Cr D Lucas 17 13 4 3

Cr J Marino 17 17 4 4

Cr J McNamara 17 15 4 3

Cr M Wainwright 17 16 4 3

Cr C Zannino 17 16 4 4
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Elected Representatives

CR CHARLIE GREGORINI
Mayor

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 1977 re-elected 

through to present

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance

ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES
There are 14 Councillors elected by the 

public to represent them and govern the 

City of Swan. Councillors then vote to 

appoint a Mayor and Deputy Mayor. The 

City is divided into eight groupings of 

suburbs called Wards. Each Councillor 

represents a specific Ward but governs 

for the entire City. 

Midland Ward

Guildford Ward

Ballajura Ward

Gidgegannup Ward

Ellenbrook Ward

Altone Ward

North Ward

Swan Valley Ward

CR JOE MARINO

Term ends: 2009

First elected: 1997 to 1999. Elected again 

2001 to present.

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance, 

Internal Support and Management 

Services

CR JON HOLMES

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 2003

Portfolio: Physical and Economic 

Development; Protection and 

Enhancement - Natural Environment

CR FRANK ALBAN 

Term ends: 2009

First elected: August 2003

Portfolio: Physical and Economic 

Development

CR STEVE CROY

Term ends: 2009

First elected: June 2004

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance; 

Physical and Economic Development & 

Protection and Enhancement - Natural 

Environment
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CR MEL CONGERTON

Deputy Mayor from May 2005 to present 

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 1999 re-elected through to 

present

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance; 

Physical and Economic Development; 

Community and Social Development; 

Protection and Enhancement - Natural 

Environment

CR JOHN McNAMARA

Term ends: 2009

First elected: 1997 re-elected through to 

present.

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance, 

Community and Social Development, 

Internal Support and Management 

Services

CR MARIA HAYNES

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 1989 re-elected through to 

present

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance; 

Community and Social Development; 

Internal Support and Management 

Services

CR DAVID FARDIG

Term ends: 2009

First elected: 1992 re-elected through to 

present

Portfolio: Physical and Economic 

Development; Protection and 

Enhancement - Natural Environment; 

Internal Support and Management 

Services

CR DAVID LUCAS

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 1992 re-elected through to 

present

Portfolio: Community and Social 

Development

CR MICK WAINWRIGHT

Term ends: 2009

First elected: May 2005

Portfolio: Physical and Economic 

Development; Community and Social 

Development

CR TODD JONES

Term ends: 2007

First elected: 2003

Portfolio: Protection and Enhancement 

- Natural Environment, Internal Support 

and Management Services

CR KEVIN BAILEY

Term ends: 2009

First elected: May 2005 

Portfolio: Not appointed

CR CHARLIE ZANNINO

Term ends: 2007

First elected: first elected 1987 to 1993. 

Elected again in 1999 through to present

Portfolio: Leadership and Governance, 

Protection and Enhancement - Natural 

Environment
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agementFinancial Man
Management Accounting

Rating Services

PROGRAM MANAGER
INTERNAL AUDIT/POLICY &

COMPLIANCE
Abbie Liew

MAYOR & COUNCILLLORS
COUNCIL

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OFFICE OF THE CEO

Michael Foley

COUNCIL SUPPORT UNIT

EXECUTIVE PROJECT OFFICER
M Hunt

PROGRAM MANAGER
HUMAN RESOURCES/

CORPORATE TRAINING &
PAYROLL
Ann Britter

EXECUTIVE MANAGER
CORPORATE SERVICES

Gerry Poepjes

PERSONAL ASSISTANT
TO CEO

GROUP MANAGER
INFORMATION SERVICES,

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS &
PUBLIC RELATIONS

Simon Wahl

POLICY/PROJECT OFFICER
H Harrison

CONTRACTS & PROCUREMENT
Tendering & Quotations
Contract Administration

Grants, Donations & Sponsorship
Leases & Licences

BUSINESS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
Business/Systems Analysis

System Support & Administration
Process Improvement

CORPORATE PLANNING & PERFORMANCE
Business Planning

Business Performance
ABEF

Process Improvement

Corporate Media

EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CORPORATE PROJECTS

Stuart Downing

EXECUTIVE MANAGER
CUSTOMER & COMMUNITY

SERVICES
Maureena Lockyer-Benzie

GROUP MANAGER
COMMUNITY SAFETY &

LIBRARY SERVICES
Jeremy Edwards

PROGRAM MANAGER
CUSTOMER SERVICES

Kerry Toop

PROGRAM MANAGER
COMMUNITY SERVICES

Helena Turel

PROGRAM MANAGER
LEISURE SERVICES

Steve Marrs

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Strategic & Statutory Services

Stuart Downing

Organisational Structure
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This chart outlines the City’s role in the community and its relationship with 

it. As is depicted within this diagram, the community is the driving force 

within the City of Swan, having direct input to Council and Executive.

PLACE MANAGER
Ballajura, Malaga, Noranda,
Beechboro Lockridge, Kiara

& Sth Whiteman
John Erceg

ACTING EXECUTIVE MANAGER
OPERATIONAL & DEVELOPMENT

SERVICES
Charles Sullivan

CO-ORDINATOR
TRANSPORT & WASTE

SERVICES
Colin Pumphrey

ACTING EXECUTIVE MANAGER
STRATEGIC COMMUNITY

PLANNING SERVICES
Linda Richardson

COORDINATOR
HEALTH SERVICES

David Rosling

COORDINATOR
BUILDING SERVICES

Richard Olsen

ACTING
COORDINATOR

PLANNING SERVICES
David Ritchings

PROGRAM MANAGER
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

Mark Bishop

PROGRAM MANAGER
FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

Mark Spendlove

PROGRAM MANAGER
ASSET MANAGEMENT

Ian Denny

PROGRAM MANAGER
PROJECT MANAGEMENT

Craig McLennan

PROGRAM MANAGER
OPERATIONS

Ian Lynch

PROGRAM MANAGER
BUILDING SERVICES

Nic Perrella

PROGRAM MANAGER
TOWN PLANNING

Steven Tan

ACTING PROGRAM
MANAGERS

Community Planning
Tracy McQue
Roge Kempe

GROUP MANAGER
COMMUNITY PLANNING

Fiona Weigall 
(Maternity Leave)

PROGRAM MANAGER
FACILITIES PLANNING

Paul Hackett

A'PROGRAM MANAGER
COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT
Adam Strelein

COORDINATOR
CUSTOMER

RELATIONSHIP
APPROVALS

SERVICES
Terry Devereux



Key Result Area 01
Leading the City of Swan
This area looks at how the City has complied with 

statutory requirements, managed the City’s resources 

in a sustainable way to achieve community outcomes, 

increased community involvement in planning and 

decision making and developed partnerships with 

government, private and not-for-profit sectors.
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Local Government is the sphere of 
government that is closest to and 
most influenced by the community. 
To effectively and efficiently govern, 
the City must plan for and manage 
its assets and resources, deliver 
appropriate services, ensure State 
and Federal laws are complied with 
and develop opportunities for its 
residents and ratepayers to enjoy a 
high-quality standard of living.

The City’s resources

The City’s resources are managed in 

a sustainable and responsible way 

leading to the best possible outcomes 

for the community. In the 2005/06 

financial year, the City operated with 

an $92.8m budget ($67.2m operating 

budget and $25.67m capital).

In the 2005/06 financial year the 

City employed 650 staff (including all 

part-time, full-time and casual staff 

members). The hours worked by these 

staff translated to approximately 470 

full time equivalent staff.

Statutory requirements

Statutory compliance is regarded 

very highly at the City of Swan. The 

Local Government Act requires each 

Council to certify that it has complied 

with a number of legislative provisions 

and advise the Department of Local 

Government accordingly. 

The other principal statutory 

compliance requirement relates to the 

completion of the audit of the financial 

statements and the City is pleased 

to advise that an unqualified audit 

report has been received from the City 

auditors. A copy of the audit report is 

contained in the financial section of this 

report.

Informing the community

To communicate the City’s decisions, 

achievements, activities, goals and 

services to the community and staff 

an efficient corporate communications 

process has been developed. This 

includes the extensive use of local 

media (with about 350 media releases 

and responses supplied in 2005/06), 

production and distribution of 

brochures, posters, booklets, the City’s 

Place Newsletters distributed directly 

into letterboxes, email newsletters and 

constantly updated information on the 

City’s website. 

Each year the City conducts research 

into whether the way it communicates 

is effective and that information is used 

to make improvements. In 2005/06 

the City conducted research into its 

place newsletters, with a very positive 

response from community members, 

and is now working on refining these 

newsletters to meet community 

expectations.

In 2005/06 the City also produced 

a 13-month pictorial calendar that 

was distributed to every household 

and business within the City of 

Swan. The pictorial calendar contains 

important information such as dates for 

community events, rubbish collection, 

community safety messages and other 

City services.

The City’s financial position and 

commitments were also communicated 

to the community via the statutory 

annual report.

As well as these official publications, 

the City of Swan endeavours to keep 

the community well informed about 

individual projects with extensive 

community consultation and 

workshops, particularly for the place 

planning process.

Customer service call centre 

The City’s Customer Service Call 

Centre plays an important role as 

the first point of contact for many 

community members. As well as 

answering questions call centre staff 

also help direct members of the 

public to the right person within the 

organisation to help them with their 

issues.

Key Result Area 01
Leading the City of Swan



City of Swan Annual Report 2005 – 2006

Key Result Area 01
Leading the City of Swan

In 2005/06 the City’s customer services 

area helped 174,479 people, including 

79,030 calls to the City’s call centre 

and 17,772 front desk visitors.

Midland Reference Group

The City and the Midland 

Redevelopment Authority have 

formed an innovative community 

consultation group, made up of a wide 

range of community and business 

representatives, to provide strategic 

advice on Midland’s revitalisation. 

In 2005/06, the Midland Reference 

Group’s first project was to provide 

advice on the future concepts for 

Midland Oval Precinct.

Place-based management

The City of Swan consists of a number 

of very diverse places with common 

local interests, referred to as place 

areas. 

Place Based Management recognises 

that the planning, design and delivery 

of services, projects and other activities 

should be tailored to meet the different 

needs of people in each place area, 

by involving them and giving them a 

greater say.

The City has gradually been shifting to 

a focus on place based management 

over several years and a Place Manager 

has been appointed to represent the 

interests of the western suburbs of 

the City – Ballajura, Beechboro, Kiara, 

Lockridge and Malaga. It is intended 

that three other Place Managers will be 

appointed during the 2006/07 financial 

year to ensure each place community 

across the City is represented.

Developing partnerships

To achieve better results for its 

residents and ratepayers, partnerships 

were a major focus for the City of 

Swan in the 2005/06 financial year, 

and the City established and continued 

partnerships with many organisations. 

These include:

Swan River Trust 

The City of Swan worked closely with 

the Swan River Trust to prepare a 

landmark partnership agreement, to be 

signed in July 2006.

The first of its kind between a local 

government and the Swan River Trust, 

the agreement is expected to act as a 

blueprint for the Swan River Trust and 

other local governments. Focusing 

on the health of the Swan and Helena 

rivers, it sets out priorities for the two 

organisations and allows for a schedule 

of works, which will initially focus on 

Blackadder Creek and wetlands.

Midland Redevelopment Authority

The City continued its work with the 

Midland Redevelopment Authority 

(MRA) to revitalise the Midland Town 

Centre in many areas.

In 2005/06 the City and the MRA 

formed an innovative community 

consultation group to provide strategic 

advice on Midland’s revitalisation. The 

Midland Reference Group is made 

up of local community and business 

representatives.

Eastern Horizons

The City also continued its significant 

partnership with the State Government 

through the Eastern Horizons program 

which aims to revitalise Midland and 

Midvale.

Eastern Horizons was launched in 

June 1999 when a Memorandum of 

Understanding was signed with the 

City of Swan. Since this time, the City 

has contributed more than $1m to the 

project. The City of Swan is committed 

to fund half the cost of infrastructure 

works such as the upgrade of roads, 

parks and verges.

The employment of a full-time 

Community Development Officer, 

working at a grass-roots level 

to develop programs within the 

community, has been extended to 

December 2006.
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Eastern Metropolitan Regional 
Council

Throughout 2005/06 the City continued 

its partnership with the Eastern 

Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC) 

which comprises the municipalities 

of Bassendean, Bayswater, Belmont, 

Kalamunda, Mundaring and Swan. 

Examples of the partnership include 

participation in the Perth Metropolitan 

bid for the Solar Cities Project. If 

successful, this project will generate 

a huge local investment into solar 

technology that will benefit residents 

and the business community. 

The City has also continued to support 

the EMRC’s Resource Recovery 

Project, a waste management 

project, while developing solutions 

to the problems of woodwaste in our 

industrial areas was another focus of 

the EMRC partnership. In working with 

other stakeholders, tangible solutions 

to this issue are now emerging.

Midland Tertiary Education Group

In a bid to bring more tertiary education 

opportunities to its residents, the City of 

Swan continued to work in partnership 

with universities, MRA, Swan TAFE, 

local businesses and community 

groups throughout 2005/06 to develop 

and back a business plan for expansion 

of tertiary services in the area.

Collectively Marketing the Swan 
Valley 

Following great success with the Swan 

Valley Marketing Group in 2004/05, the 

City of Swan worked with stakeholders 

in 2005/06 on phase two of the 

Swan Valley Marketing Campaign to 

promote the Swan Valley’s profile as 

a tourist destination. The City formed 

a marketing group, representative of 

stakeholders in the Valley to look at 

tactical and effective promotion of the 

Swan Valley. The outcome was that 

more than 100 stakeholders, or 80% 

of Swan Valley businesses, contributed 

financially to the campaign worth 

around $80,000.

Malaga Crime Management Forum

The City of Swan, Malaga & Districts 

Business Association and Ballajura 

Police have formed a partnership 

and signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding to form the Malaga 

Crime Management Forum. The 

forum aims to deliver a range of crime 

prevention activities in the Malaga 

industrial area.

Small Business Centre Stirling MOU

The City of Swan and the Small 

Business Centre Stirling (SBCS) signed 

a partnership agreement in 2005/06, 

aimed at delivering a range of business 

development services and business 

training in the Ballajura and Altone 

Wards. The agreement ensures the City 

and the SBCS’s services complement 

each other and address the many 

different needs of the business 

community in these areas.

Partnerships benefit local arts

In 2005/06 the City extended its 

partnership with Artrage, who 

coordinated the 2005 Urban Edge 

event - the Midland Projections 

Program.

Kulcha Multicultural Arts and the City 

co-presented the Kulcha on Swan 

series of free outdoor community 

concerts.

A strong network of local arts groups 

was formed, working together with 

the City and local businesses on the 

Australia Business Arts Foundation’s 

Arts Connecting Communities 

program. The program aims to foster, 

facilitate and sustain partnerships 

between local arts organisations and 

local businesses, to the benefit of the 

whole community. The City of Swan 

and Midland Redevelopment Authority 

launched the AbaF program in 2005/06 

and local arts groups participated in a 

series of workshops during this period, 

with business seminars to be held in 

the 06/07 financial year.
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Key Result Area 01
Leading the City of Swan

Department for Education and 
Training

As part of the City of Swan’s work 

to improve community facilities for 

Ellenbrook’s growing community, the 

City of Swan continued to work closely 

with the Department for Education and 

Training (DET).

The Memorandum of Understanding 

(MoU) is facilitating the construction 

of the Ellenbrook Community 

Learning Precinct, which will include 

an innovative public library for use 

by school students and the wider 

community. This library will also 

contain space for community groups. 

Construction began in 2005/06 and is 

expected to finish in time for the 2007 

school year.

In June 2006 the City signed another 

MoU with the DET, this time concerning 

the Bullsbrook District High School 

redevelopment. The agreement will 

ensure the school and community 

library will nurture a closer relationship 

with the community and link the 

planning of the school with the broader 

planning for Bullsbrook.

The agreement was spurred after the 

DET secured $7 million to redevelop 

the Bullsbrook District High School in 

2005. The City has been represented 

on the Bullsbrook District High School 

Implementation Committee since 

its inception in March 2005 and has 

worked actively to help develop a 

number of initiatives for the better 

coordination and development of the 

project.

District Community Safety Plan

Working closely with the shires 

of Mundaring and Kalamunda, 

the Town of Bassendean and the 

State Government Office of Crime 

Prevention, the City of Swan is helping 

to establish a district-wide community 

safety plan.

A consultant was appointed in 2005/06 

and work on the project will begin 

shortly. It is expected the project will 

benefit everyone in the City of Swan 

by promoting and strengthening 

community safety initiatives.

Transfield Services

The City signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding with Transfield Services 

on July 5, 2005. Transfield Services 

are responsible for the management 

of most of the Pearce Airbase’s 

contracted services and the MoU 

establishes a strategic partnership 

approach to community projects 

including community research, better 

technology, joint submissions for 

grants funding and improving the 

local environment.  The partnership 

has resulted in the formation of 

the award-winning Bullsbrook and 

Districts Community Reference Group 

comprising local community members 

and key stakeholders. 

In June 2006 the City 
signed another MoU 
with the DET, this time 
concerning the Bullsbrook 
District High School 
redevelopment.
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In this section the achievements of the City in terms of 

developing the physical infrastructure, land, business 

locations and community places are outlined. Specifically 

we are reporting on how we have planned for future 

communities, facilities and infrastructure, building 

and maintaining infrastructure, facilities and public 

spaces and managing community assets. Our efforts 

in making the area appealing to investors through 

the establishment of programs and policies are also 

encompassed here.
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Key Result Area 02
Developing the City of Swan

Leading and governing the area 
and its residents is a substantial 
task and the City of Swan needs 
to develop to ensure residents, 
ratepayers, investors and visitors 
have adequate infrastructure and 
facilities to work, live and recreate. 
To this end, planning, developing 
and maintaining everything from 
new residential and commercial 
locations, public open spaces and 
roads is one of the most important 
tasks undertaken by the City of 
Swan. 

Managing community assets

Asset management

The City controls $897m in assets 

(current replacement value) ranging 

from roads, to buildings, to car parks. 

One of the City’s key roles is to deliver 

services within the community through 

effective management of these assets. 

Thirteen Asset Management Plans have 

been prepared for the principal asset 

groups, to better manage maintenance, 

renewal and capital replacement in 

each of these groups.

Facility management

Facility management is a detailed 

subset of asset management focusing 

on the maintenance, compliance, safety 

and effective management of the City’s 

facilities. Through effective planning 

and management, the cost of operating 

facilities (including the provision of 

building-related services) can be 

minimised or in some cases reduced, 

while maintaining the buildings to a high 

standard. This ensures a sustainable 

future for the facilities. 

Cleaning, security and fire services, and 

maintenance have been undertaken on 

and in all City buildings. Including utility 

charges, more than $2.5m has been 

allocated to this area to undertake work 

in each Ward.

The City has established a facility 

planning area within its structure with 

facilities management forming strong 

alliances with this team particularly in 

the area of Policies of mutual interest 

and benefit. It is anticipated that the 

standards of facilities will improve within 

coming years.

Planning for the future

The City of Swan has a community plan 

which provides a framework for setting 

priorities and allocating resources over 

the next decade for its nearly 100 

different services.

The plan will help direct resources 

to where they are most needed and 

recognises the City’s leadership role 

and responsibility to act as community 

advocates.

Place Planning

Place planning is aimed at ensuring 

the City of Swan is aware of what local 

residents want for their community. It 

integrates the City’s planning activities 

to effectively plan, and more specifically, 

deliver service and infrastructure for 13 

place areas identified.

A Place Plan for the Guildford-

Hazelmere area was finalised in 

2005/06 and the Swan Valley plan is 

close to completion. Planning for the 

Bullsbrook-Upper Swan and Ballajura 

place areas has progressed, as has the 

review process of the Ellenbrook-The 

Vines place plan.

Extensive community consultation 

took place for the Guildford-Hazelmere 

and the Swan Valley place plans via 

workshops, focus group meetings and 

household surveys.

Town Planning Scheme 17

In 2002/03 the City took the major 

step of preparing and initially adopting 

a new District Zoning Scheme, known 

as Town Planning Scheme No. 17 

(TPS 17) for the entire City. TPS 17 will 

replace Town Planning Scheme No. 9 

which has been operating since 1985.

One of the City’s key roles 
is to deliver services within 
the community through 
effective management of 
these assets...
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In 2005/06 the City of Swan completed 

its public comment period on the draft 

scheme and the Council approved a 

finalised TPS 17 in April 2006. TPS 

17 has now been sent to the Western 

Australian Planning Commission for 

approval.

Changes to the scheme have been 

limited largely to reformatting text to 

accommodate legislative requirements. 

There have been minimal changes to 

land use issues.

Building and development standards, 

such as car parking and building 

setback requirements were removed 

from the scheme and moved into local 

planning policies accompanying the 

scheme. This enables the Council to 

make changes to standards without 

having to amend the Town Planning 

Scheme – a costly and time-consuming 

process.

Properties listed in the previous 

Municipal Inventory of Heritage Places 

will be transferred to a Heritage list 

without change.

Swan Regional Riverside Park

Development of a 100-hectare riverside 

recreation park within two kilometres 

of the Strategic Regional Centre of 

Midland continued in 2005/06. This 

park incorporates a beautiful riverside 

setting, an important system of 

wetlands and watercourses. It is also 

an important Aboriginal cultural heritage 

site and a place strongly associated 

with the founding of the Swan River 

colony and European settlement of the 

Swan Valley.

Following the adoption of a final master 

plan for the site in 2004/05, significant 

progress  in 2005/06 has included 

traffic management planning, foreshore 

revegetation plans, site topographical 

surveys and an indigenous heritage 

study. This will lead to detailed precinct 

planning and trail network planning in 

2006/07.

The Vale structure plan

During 2005/06 the City of Swan 

completed the structure plan for 

The Vale. A new subdivision east of 

Ellenbrook, this area will be home to 

14,000 people and residents began 

moving into the subdivision in late 

2005.

The City is negotiating with developers 

for approval of Stage 2 Development 

Plan, environmental management 

plans, village centre plans and 

landscape plans. Meanwhile planning 

for the provision of up-front community 

facilities and services is underway 

and significant reserves have built up 

over the last 12 months from the Vale 

Community Fund.

The City has endorsed renaming the 

area to Aveley and awaits final approval 

from the State Government.

Albion Town structure plan

Planning progressed for the future 

Albion Town, at Henley Brook, with the 

City and developers working closely 

on environmental planning, water 

management, open space, housing 

choice and community facilities 

provision for this development, which 

will house 14,000 people.

Midland Oval Masterplan

The City has worked closely with 

the community to develop a draft 

Masterplan for the redevelopment of 

the 11-hectare Midland Oval Precinct in 

the heart of Midland.

Extensive consultation has been 

undertaken to develop a plan to meet 

the needs of Midland well into the 

future, by providing a mix of housing 

styles and commercial activities and 

by increasing the local residential 

population to improve the safety and 

vitality of the Midland Regional Centre. 

Almost 16 per cent or 1.76 hectares 

will be retained as rejuvenated civic and 

public open space. 

Urban Growth Strategy and policies

The City has developed four innovative 

policies to manage the City’s rapid 

urban growth that brings an influx of 

This park incorporates a 
beautiful riverside setting, 
an important system of 
wetlands and watercourses.
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55,000 people over the next 15 years, 

boosting the City’s population from 

90,000 to 145,000 by 2021. While this 

growth is a plus for the City of Swan, it 

means the City faces huge challenges 

protecting precious environmental 

resources, providing community 

facilities and services, providing leisure 

and sporting facilities, and planning for 

local employment opportunities and 

public transport services.

The policies put in place consistent 

and comprehensive objectives 

and requirements for major urban 

developments, including sustainability 

and environmental monitoring 

requirements.

The City is continuing to work in 

partnership with the State Government 

to ensure the proper planning of new 

urban areas, which will provide better 

developments for our residents and will 

enable the City to plan for sustainable 

development at a regional scale. 

A comprehensive strategy is being 

prepared in collaboration with the State 

government to provide timeframes 

for provision of major infrastructure 

items such as road networks, public 

transport services, development of 

sporting facilities and standards for 

environmental management.

Design guidelines for Guildford and 
Woodbridge

Existing design guidelines for the 

Guildford Conservation Precinct were 

reviewed during 2005/06 and a new 

set of design guidelines were prepared 

and released for community comment.   

Design guidelines were also prepared 

and released for community comment 

for the Woodbridge Conservation 

Precincts. Both sets of design 

guidelines will be endorsed by the 

Council in early 2006/7 and aim to 

ensure that the cultural significance and 

character of these areas is conserved 

and protected.

Community profiles and demographic 
data

Understanding our community and our 

past is a vital part of planning for the 

City of Swan’s future and measuring 

the City’s progress.

In 2005/06, via a consultant, the City 

collated community profiles based on 

ABS Census information for the years 

1991, 1996 and 2001. The Community 

Profiles are hosted on an interactive 

online website available to both people 

internally and externally, covering the 

whole of the City of Swan and also the 

13 place areas within the City. 

The community profiles complement 

the Population and Household 

Forecasts, which offer information from 

2001-2021.

Encouraging business and 

investment

Home-based business

The City is at the forefront of local 

government for encouraging home-

based businesses within the region. 

Regulations in the Town Planning 

Scheme allow for small scale, low 

nuisance work from home businesses 

in residential and rural areas, with 

minimal red tape for approval from the 

City. 

The City has worked with local 

business development organisations to 

develop business assistance packages 

tailored to meet home-based business 

information needs. 

Small business

The City helped small businesses within 

the area develop with free human 

resource, marketing and other training 

for operators in partnership with Edith 

Cowan University, local business 

groups and AusIndustry. Vouchers 

up to $200 were given away under 

the scheme for training. The City also 

facilitated a series of export and trade 

workshops for local business to help 

with information and strategies to 

expand their businesses.

Key Result Area 02
Developing the City of Swan

Understanding our 
community and our past is 
a vital part of planning for 
the City of Swan’s future 
and measuring the City’s 
progress.
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Business Development Officer 

Malaga is one of the fastest 

growing industrial areas in the Perth 

metropolitan area. In 2005/06 the 

City of Swan continued its support for 

businesses in the Malaga area through 

the employment of an area-specific 

Business Development Officer. The 

officer worked towards attracting new 

businesses to the area, generating 

business partnerships, implementing 

business attraction strategies and 

installation of appropriate infrastructure.

The City also maintained the Malaga 

business website to make it easier for 

businesses to communicate with the 

City and each other.

Broadband internet

In 2005/06 the City successfully 

facilitated the provision of wireless 

broadband services in the Swan Valley 

and Bullsbrook areas. In addition, 

the City of Swan was selected by the 

Australian Telecommunications Users 

Group (ATUG) as the only Western 

Australian metropolitan council to host 

the National Broadband  Roadshow in 

2005.

Regulation Reduction Incentive

The City obtained funding through 

the Federal Government Red Tape 

Reduction Incentive fund (RRIF) to 

implement an online self assessment 

program for businesses. One 

component is now available on the 

City’s website and enables home-

based businesses to assess, via a 

simple process, whether they need 

to apply for a licence to operate their 

business from home. 

The City is now progressing the 

design of a similar tool to be applied to 

commercial signage in the City. When 

operational, this tool will allow business 

owners to determine whether City 

approval is required for a proposed 

business sign at their business.

By cutting the amount of red tape 

associated with setting up a small or 

home-based business, the City hopes 

to encourage a stronger local business 

community.

Business website

The City has developed a website 

specifically targeting current and future 

businesses in the City of Swan. The 

website, (www.swanbusiness.com), 

is designed to provide user friendly 

access to a wide range of business 

information and assistance in the one 

location, including links to other City of 

Swan business sites and information.

Ellenbrook Business Association

The City of Swan actively supported the 

establishment of a business association 

in Ellenbrook.

Tourism

Continuing commitment

The City of Swan continued its 

commitment to taking a leading role 

in developing tourist servicing facilities 

and regional marketing within the area 

in 2005/06 through the Adding Value 

Through Tourism (AVTT) plan. The 

City also coordinated an expanded 

advertising campaign to promote the 

Swan Valley in partnership with local 

businesses.

This developing role in visitor service, 

regional marketing and tourism 

infrastructure has established the City 

of Swan as a leading local government 

in tourism development.

With a focus on regional marketing 

the City is helping to create a strong 

identity for the Swan region as an 

accessible tourism destination.

In 2005/06 the City began preparation 

of an on-line regional food and wine 

produce database to encourage use of 

locally produced foods in restaurants, 

cafes, farm gate and cellar door sales.

This complements the release of the 

City’s annual Harvest Calendar that 

shows the wide variety of fresh food 

available the whole year.

In 2005/06 the City
began preparation of an 
on-line regional food and 
wine produce database 
to encourage use of 
locally produced foods in 
restaurants, cafes, farm 
gate and cellar door sales. 
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Swan Valley and Eastern Region 
Visitor Centre

The City of Swan continued to operate 

the Swan Valley and Eastern Region 

Visitor Centre from the Old Guildford 

Courthouse in 2005/06, providing a 

valuable service to the area’s tourism 

industry and visitors to the area.

The City-maintained and developed 

Swan Valley website

(www.swanvalley.info) continued to 

evolve in 2005/06, to make it easier to 

use and more appealing for visitors to 

the area.

The Swan Valley & Eastern Region 

Visitor Centre has adopted a new 

way of booking tour operators and 

accommodation properties through 

the computer program – Bookeasy. 

This is an online reservation system 

that provides a consistent booking 

process and acts as a point of sale for 

all retail products sold with the centre. 

It has proven to increase accuracy, 

consistency and the opportunity to 

generate reports that will prove an 

invaluable way of continuing to improve 

the Swan Valley and Eastern Region 

Visitor Centre across the board.

Swan Valley Bike plan

The City of Swan continued its work on 

the Swan Valley Bike Plan in 2005/06 in 

many ways. 

In addition to providing support from 

the City’s municipal fund for the project, 

the City received an $800,000 State 

Government grant for the work. This 

money allowed the City to construct 

more than five kilometres of shared-use 

pathway along West Swan Rd during 

the financial year, as well as marketing 

material to promote the path.

The City of Swan also endorsed a 

plan entitled Swan Valley Bike Plan 

- Future Directions, which details the 

future works and connections that 

will be made to the Swan Valley Bike 

Network over the next five years. This 

endorsement follows an extensive 

community consultation process.

Experience Gidgegannup

Experience Gidgegannup (formerly 

Eat the View) has been running since 

November 2004 when the City of Swan 

received funding of $20,000 from the 

Department of Local Government 

and Regional Development’s Outer 

Metropolitan Community Fund. 

Experience Gidgegannup analyses and 

promotes opportunities for emerging 

or potential agricultural and rural 

production, adding to the region’s 

sustainability.

In 2005/06 the City conducted 

seminars for local residents and 

producers on sustainable land use and 

value-adding, audited current assets 

and activities in the area, developed 

a slogan and logo for value-adding 

and tourism activities in Gidgegannup, 

and promoted Gidgegannup through 

brochures and key events. A 

community working group helped the 

Gidgegannup community establish their 

own incorporated group, Experience 

Gidgegannup Inc.

The production of a Sustainable Rural 

Produce & Activities Strategy and 

Action Plan comprises one of the final 

stages of the Experience Gidgegannup 

Project. The Strategy, which is 

nearing completion, was developed 

in consultation with City of Swan, 

Experience Gidgegannup Inc and the 

Gidgegannup community (through a 

community workshop).

This Sustainable Rural Produce & 

Activities Strategy and Action Plan 

for Gidgegannup is intended to guide 

the economic development of rural 

and tourism activities in Gidgegannup 

over the next five years. Experience 

Gidgegannup Inc and the City of 

Swan will be jointly responsible for its 

implementation.

Annual Events and Festivals

The City sponsors and organises many 

local Annual Events and Festivals, all 

designed to encourage tourists to the 

region. Some notable events this year 

included:

Key Result Area 02
Developing the City of Swan
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Avon Descent 

Having the largest Swan River frontage 

in the metropolitan area, the City 

provides many spectacular viewing 

points for this annual white water 

classic. The City provides infrastructure 

and services to help in the smooth 

running of the event for its thousands of 

spectators and competitors. 

Lilac Hill Festival match

The Lilac Hill Festival Cricket 

Match is the opening game of the 

Australian cricket team’s campaign for 

international dominance every year. The 

City of Swan has supported the game 

since the first match was played at the 

City-owned Lilac Hill ground, Guildford, 

in October 1990. 

Volunteer week

The City of Swan celebrated the 

contribution of volunteers to the 

community during National Volunteer 

Week in December 2005 with functions 

for both Swan Volunteers members and 

volunteers for the Swan Community 

Care Services.

Harmony Day and Peace Day

Between Harmony Day in May 2006 

and Peace Day in August 2006, City of 

Swan school children have been invited 

to take part in the City of Swan Peace 

Project. The children are creating 

several thousand cranes created 

to be sent to the Hiroshima Peace 

Park Japan as part of Peace Day 

celebrations. Some will be displayed at 

City of Swan venues.

Women on Wellness Week

To draw attention to the importance 

of women leading healthy lifestyles, 

the City of Swan organised a week 

of activities celebrating Women on 

Wellness Week in May. Women are role 

models within a family unit and WOW 

week enabled them to try alternative 

therapies and gentle exercise. 

Supermarket tours were provided to 

help select healthy foods on a budget.

Civic events and functions

National Aboriginal and Islander Day 
of Celebration (NAIDOC) 

NAIDOC acknowledges and celebrates 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

cultures and the achievements of 

Indigenous people in Australia. A 

number of events and activities took 

place in the City of Swan to celebrate 

NAIDOC Week in July 2005 and the 

City presented free performances of 

Barking Gecko Theatre Company’s 

show Crabbing at High Tide at the 

Midland Town Hall.

Queen’s Baton

The City of Swan hosted one of the key 

Queen’s Baton events as part of the 

lead-up to the 2006 Commonwealth 

Games. Guildford was the last Western 

Australian stop for the Queen’s Baton 

– which contains the Queen’s message 

to Commonwealth Games athletes 

– on Saturday, February 11, 2006. 

Residents gathered in Stirling Square 

for a day of entertainment, community 

stalls and activities presented by the 

City. The Queen’s Baton celebrations 

were a collaborative effort by a number 

of business units, and many staff 

from throughout the organisation 

volunteered on the day.

Citizenship ceremonies

In the City of Swan, 578 people 

became Australian Citizens in 

ceremonies overseen by the City’s 

Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

Picnic in the Park

The Picnic in the Park series of events 

was developed by the City of Swan to 

foster a stronger sense of community 

that results in other benefits like 

improving safety in the area. In 2005/06 

the City focussed on hosting larger 

Picnic in the Park events, to cater for 

a larger number of residents. Three 

Picnic in the Park events were held, at 

Sandalford Winery as part of the Avon 

Descent, as part of Bike in the Valley 

and as part of the Queen’s Baton Relay 

Having the largest Swan 
River frontage in the 
metropolitan area, the City 
provides many spectacular 
viewing points for this 
annual white water classic.
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celebrations.

Development in Swan

Development Approvals

The City received 4,261 building licence 

applications in 2005/06, an increase of 

588 over the previous year’s number 

of 3,673. The total value of the building 

works approved was $392.5 million 

– an increase in value of $38 million 

from the previous year.

The number of Development 

Applications received increased by 

12% from 692 in 2005/06 to 778 in 

2005/06, while subdivision applications 

dropped to 95.

Regulation Reduction Incentive Fund 
(RRIF)

A consortium of five WA local 

authorities, led by City of Swan 

and the Western Australian Local 

Government Association (WALGA), 

received a $495,810 grant as part of 

the Australian Government’s Regulation 

Reduction Incentive Fund (RRIF).

The RRIF is designed to support 

initiatives that will cut compliance costs 

for small businesses.

The project involving the WALGA, the 

cities of Swan, Cockburn, Wanneroo, 

Stirling and Rockingham, is aimed 

at creating a single internet portal for 

building licence applications.

The concept of a single online point 

for lodging applications has received 

overwhelming support from the 

building industry and Housing Industry 

Association.

It will benefit businesses in several 

ways, including:

• Reducing cost of the applications 

overall

• Reducing the length of time for 

building approvals

• Saving the applicants’ time and 

resources compared to manually 

submitting multiple applications

Roads, footpaths and cycleways 

Maintaining the local road infrastructure 

is a major function of the City and 

a significant amount of resources 

are allocated to improving and 

maintaining this asset base. Works 

were undertaken in each Ward of 

the City, with approximately $10.5m 

having been spent on major, local and 

safety-related roadworks and $848,900 

on footpaths and cycleways, of which 

$759,028 was dedicated to the Swan 

Valley West Swan Road shared path 

construction.

Road safety

People living or passing through the 

City of Swan can now drive more safely 

and comfortably this year after the 

City spent $630,000 on road safety 

projects in 2005/06. Works included 

the installation of roundabouts, median 

islands and intersection modifications 

including the phasing of traffic signals.

Project Management and 

Maintenance

Road construction

$3.41 million was allocated for the 

Lloyd Street upgrade project in 

05/06 to construct dual carriageways 

between Morrison Road and the 

Great Eastern Highway intersection. 

The Lloyd Street extension project 

will continue in 06/07 with the 

planning of the works from the Great 

Eastern Highway intersection to the 

Great Eastern Bypass. The first of 

three stages of the Neaves Road 

reconstruction was completed, costing 

$658,000. These works will continue 

into 06/07.

Local roads, streetscaping and 
drainage

The City allocated $5.4m worth of 

works on local roads construction 

and resurfacing, while $443,000 was 

expended on City drainage works, 

primarily in Midland and Hazelmere.

More than $500,000 was allocated 

to streetscape works across the City, 

One of the City’s key roles 
is to deliver services within 
the community through 
effective management of 
these assets...

Key Result Area 02
Developing the City of Swan
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including but not limited to James 

Street in Guildford, a tourism display 

and associated wildflower planting in 

Gidgegannup, and streets throughout.

Building Construction

A variety of projects were started 

during 2005/06, including the Swan 

Community Care Services building 

upgrade and the Ellenbrook community 

library, however the major expenditure 

will not occur until early 06/07.

Other successful projects included 

the installation of the Altone Library 

desk and the loans security system, 

and repairs, maintenance and air 

conditioning for the Swan Valley and 

Eastern Region Visitor Centre.

Road Maintenance

Maintaining the local road infrastructure 

is a major function of the City and a 

significant amount of resources are 

allocated to improving and maintaining 

this asset base.  Works were 

undertaken in each Ward with more 

than $3.59m being allocated to road 

maintenance, including roads, kerbs, 

drainage, sweeping, footpaths and 

street lighting.

Ground Maintenance (including Parks 
& Natural Environmental Maintenance)

Ground maintenance is another major 

function of the City, incorporating 

verges, parks, natural environment 

and street tree maintenance. The 

City is responsible for maintaining 

infrastructure to meet the standard 

of safety and amenity required by the 

community.  Again works have been 

undertaken in each Ward with more 

than $7.5m allocated to such work – an 

increase of $1.74m.

Building Maintenance

Building maintenance delivered as 

part of the service provision of facilities 

management includes reactive building 

repairs and planned maintenance to all 

City buildings.

Works have been undertaken in each 

Ward with more than $1.5m being 

allocated to this work.

Drainage Studies

Council resolved to impose a Specified 

Area Rate (SAR) to properties in the 

Guildford Drainage District as part 

of the 2005/06 Rating Strategy to 

fund the cost of construction and 

maintenance of drainage infrastructure.

Following this, a drainage study of 

South Guildford is expected to be 

completed early in the 2006/07 year. 

Another drainage study for Guildford 

commenced during the year and is 

expected to be completed in August 

2006.

Lighting Strategy

Following on from a lighting strategy 

review in 2004/05, the City in 2005/06 

spent $170,000 on street lighting 

improvements and $53,000 on park 

lighting improvements during the 

year. These projects were derived 

from requests from ratepayers and 

community groups.

Roadwise Program

The City again this year continued to 

work with the Roadwise Committee to 

promote and support road initiatives 

within the City, including the Pre-

Christmas Car Check event and 

assisting the Police with Community 

Speed Watch Strategies.

Local area speed zoning

The City continued to work with Main 

Roads Western Australia (MRWA) 

on a joint initiative to provide posted 

speed zones to rural communities. In 

2005/06 the City took measurements 

to determine the success of the Herne 

Hill area speed zone and have provided 

data to MRWA in preparation for the 

next project in the Swan Valley.

The City allocated $5.4m 
worth of works on local 
roads construction and 
resurfacing



Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being
The City’s efforts to enhance community and social 

development, personal well-being, community health 

and safety, leisure and life-long learning is detailed in this 

section.
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Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being

The City of Swan strives to provide 
its residents and ratepayers 
with opportunities for personal 
development in the belief that 
individual and family health, 
safety and satisfaction are keys 
to developing an integrated and 
harmonious community. This is a 
complex area as there are many 
aspects and variables to enhancing 
a community including physical 
fitness, mental well-being and a 
sense of community, to name a few.

Recreation

Recreation facilities

The City maintained and operated 

the Altone Park Leisure Centre, Swan 

Park Leisure Centre and Ballajura 

Aquatic centre throughout 2005/06. 

Attendances for 2005/06 were 

consistent with previous years, with a 

marginal decline of 2200 attendances 

(0.29 per cent).

Altone

2004/05  2005/06

Att. 308,000 Att. 325,237

Ballajura

2004/05  2005/06

Att. 133,000 Att. 125,564

Swan Park

2004/05  2005/06

Att. 302,000 Att. 289,979

Midland Sports Complex

In May 2006 the City of Swan took over 

the management and operation of the 

Midland Sports Complex in Midvale.

The City has since re-launched the 

complex as a venue for corporate 

events, community events, community 

meetings, weddings and other 

functions, while continuing to maintain 

the complex’s tennis courts and lawn 

bowls for the community’s use.

Living Longer Living Stronger

The City of Swan in 2005/06 continued 

its support for the Living Longer Living 

Stronger (LLLS) program.

LLLS is an evidence-based program 

that encourages improved health, 

quality of life and fitness of people aged 

over 50 years.  The program seeks 

to maximise opportunities for people 

to take part in affordable, high quality 

and result-oriented strength training 

programs for the long term. Across 

the City’s three leisure centres there 

are approximately 200 community 

members involved and this number is 

continuing to grow.

Indigenous Water Safety Skills and 
Water Awareness Program

This program is a water safety 

and awareness initiative targeting 

indigenous children and teenagers 

aged six-years-old to 18-years-old, and 

their parents, who reside in Midland 

and surrounding areas. The program is 

run at Swan Park Leisure Centre with 

funding provided by the Department 

of Sport and Recreation’s Community 

Grants Scheme. This program will 

provide aquatic training and information 

sessions that focus on developing skills 

and understanding of water safety.

Facility Booking Service

The City continues to manage the 

bookings for its 80 community centres, 

halls, ovals, pavilions and public open 

spaces. These centres are an integral 

part of community life and are used 

by over 215 user groups, including 

sporting clubs and associations 

(both junior and senior), community 

organisations and commercial clients 

providing leisure-based services.
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Parks, reserves and sportsgrounds

Kingfisher Pavilion

Concept planning, including schematic 

designs, was undertaken throughout 

2005/06 and the Council reaffirmed 

its support for this project, which is 

planned for 2006/07.

Altone BMX 

A collaborative project between 

the Lockridge Senior High School, 

Employment Directions in Midland and 

the City of Swan has resulted in the 

completion of plans for a new facility 

for young people in Altone and nearby 

areas.

Playspace Strategy

A Playspace Strategy for the City 

was completed in 2005/06, in 

which all existing playgrounds were 

assessed and future upgrades and 

replacements were planned. This 

process has commenced with the 

adoption of a five-year refurbishment 

and replacement schedule and 

development of guidelines for the 

provision of quality and diversity in 

future play opportunities.

Ballajura Skate (Small Wheeled) 
Facility

Through this project a new planning 

tool has been created that allows a 

thorough and unbiased selection of 

sites for this popular activity. The site 

for the future Ballajura facility has been 

agreed by local youth, the City Council 

and other stakeholders. Construction is 

expected in 2006/07.

Morgan Fields Youth Facilities

In response to community requests, 

the City identified a need for youth 

activity facilities in Morgan Fields. 

Following an offer of funding from the 

Outer Metropolitan Community Fund, 

work is underway on the construction 

of the facilities at Sandown Park. A 

notable feature of this project has 

been the strong youth representation 

and consultation with local residents 

of all ages that resulted in effective 

compromise and a set of facilities that 

were in use even before the project’s 

completion.

Gidgegannup Multisport courts

Planning was completed and 

development work commenced on 

two multi-purpose courts at the Percy 

Cullen sportsground in Gidgegannup.

Bullsbrook Neighbourhood Centre 

saved by City

In 2006, the City of Swan Council 

elected to purchase the Bullsbrook 

Neighbourhood Centre from the 

Defence Housing Authority (DHA). This 

followed a decision by the DHA to sell 

the property, which would have closed 

the centre. Given the lack of other 

facilities in Bullsbrook, the City acquired 

the property to ensure this community 

asset would remain open.

The Bullsbrook Neighbourhood Centre 

has been operating for more than 10 

years from these premises, providing 

services and programs for local 

families, youth, senior citizens and 

community groups. The City did not 

want to see the good work of the not-

for-profit organisation stop or diminish, 

especially given an increased demand 

for community services and activities in 

the area.

A Playspace Strategy for 
the City was completed 
in 2005/06, in which all 
existing playgrounds 
were assessed and future 
upgrades and replacements 
were planned.

Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being
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Library services

In 2005/06, the City’s six public libraries 

processed 767,333 loans for 46,544 

active registered members and were 

visited 431,851 times. While borrowing 

library materials is still the main 

focus for library customers, there is 

continuing demand for internet access 

and special programs and activities. 

Through the State Government, 

the City’s libraries have continued 

to receive extra stock allocation to 

address the shortfall between current 

stock levels and population served, 

and to help with a more adequate new 

for old replacement rate. Despite this, 

compared to the previous year there 

was a 13.4 per cent decrease in the 

number of items received in 2005/06.

October 2005 the City launched Vubis 

Smart as a replacement for the ageing 

Geac Plus library automation system. 

This web-based system provides easy 

access for customers to the library 

catalogue and online databases.

The Better Beginnings Family Literacy 

Program, an initiative of the State 

Library of Western Australia, is well 

established in the City of Swan and 

has been a cooperative effort between 

the libraries and the community health 

nurses. Activities that support the 

philosophy of this project are offered on 

a regular basis within the City’s libraries.

In 2005/06, the City of Swan Libraries 

continued to increase community 

awareness of the importance of reading 

to babies and young children by 

extending the always-popular weekly 

storytime sessions for pre-schoolers to 

include monthly Rhymetime sessions 

for babies from birth to 24-months-

old. These sessions have proved to 

be popular with Midland Public Library 

holding bi-monthly sessions to cope 

with the demand.

The City of Swan’s heritage continues 

to be a focus for the library service with 

extra hours being assigned to the Local 

History Librarian to provide specialist 

assistance to clients and to further 

develop the collection of historical 

information and resources. The City’s 

Local History Librarian is located at 

Midland Public Library.

Services to our older clients are 

developing as their changing needs are 

assessed and evaluated. A wide range 

of large print books and audio stories 

using different formats are available 

at all libraries.  A weekly morning 

programme of guest speakers and 

chat sessions organised by Midland 

Public Library has been well supported. 

Volunteers are now assisting library 

staff to provide library resources to 

people who are physically unable to 

visit their public library.

Finding My Place, a career guidance 

program for local youth, was 

conducted at Bullsbrook Community 

Library following on from the success 

of the program conducted at Ballajura 

Public Library the previous year.  The 

program was made possible with grant 

monies received from the Department 

of Education and Training.

Altone Park Public Library is the 

first City of Swan Library to have a 

dedicated technology centre to meet 

expressed needs of the community.  

All computers have internet and email 

facilities and they are proving to be a 

popular resource for customers.
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Swan Community Care Services

Swan Community Care Services 

(SCCS) provides practical help and 

support to the City’s frail aged and 

people with disabilities. It enables 

these people to remain independent, 

improve their quality of life and to 

prevent premature entry to residential 

care. Services offered include client 

assessments, information and 

advocacy, centre and home-based 

respite (including dementia specific), 

carer support, personal care, domestic 

help and transport. During the year 

under review SCCS attracted more 

than $1. 5 m of recurrent government 

funding, clients fees accounts for over 

$170,000. SCCS provided services to 

1276 clients on 67,631 occasions.

Program centres overseen and 

operated by the City in 2005/06 

were Elvire Chalets, Swan Caring, 

Swan Child Care Centre, Western 

Swan Home Support, Woodlake 

Community Centre, Lowery Park and 

Swan Community Transport. Building 

expansions are planned in 2006/07.

Swan Community Transport

Swan Community Transport (SCT) 

provides transport for its clients 

to enable them to attend medical 

appointments, shopping trips and 

social activities. It is another way in 

which the City promotes independence 

and wellbeing of its residents.                  

SCT serviced 718 residents and made 

35,045 One-way trips throughout 

2005/06. It attracted $281,740 in 

government funding. Client fees 

accounted for more than $50,000. 

Volunteers’ labour accounted for the 

equivalent of 10 full-time employees. 

Community development

In 2005/06 the City continued its 

strong commitment to community 

development, working collaboratively 

with local groups to help maximise 

the potential of the City of Swan 

community.

The City’s community development 

programs focused on enhancing the 

positive aspects of the community, 

as well as helping the community to 

respond locally to challenges. There 

has been a continued focus on helping 

the community to be part of and own 

this progress.

The City’s role thereby advances 

positive community life by seeing 

communities respond and act 

more effectively than if left to do so 

unassisted, with the result  being 

increasing general community wellbeing 

with more and varied community 

activity, events, programs, networks 

and services than would otherwise be 

likely.

Children and family services

Early Years Strategy

The City continued its lead role in 

the Early Years Strategy in 2005/06, 

brokering a collaborative approach with 

government, community groups and 

businesses. The Early Years Strategy 

focuses on the early years of a child’s 

life, by supporting parents in their key 

role.

In an inter-agency approach through 

the Midland Early Years Action Group 

(MEYAG), the City continues to facilitate 

and advocate for additional resources 

at the state and federal levels, for easier 

access to services and a more timely 

response to social issues. Additionally, 

the Early Years Strategy has resulted 

in learner packs for school children, 

welcome packs for newborns and their 

families, promotion of low-cost and free 

holiday activities, a regular newspaper 

column and more.

The City this year appointed an 

additional staff member to expand this 

approach across the City of Swan.

Aboriginal Family and Hospital Liaison 
Officer

The City of Swan received funding from 

Lotterywest to employ an Aboriginal 

Family and Hospital Liaison Officer to 

Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being
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work with families and the community 

to increase the number of Aboriginal 

women accessing maternity services at 

Swan Districts Hospital.  Collaboration 

between the City and the health 

services will result in improved health 

outcomes for Aboriginal women and 

their children.

Australian Early Development Index

The City in partnership with East 

Metropolitan Population Health and 

Swan Education District successfully 

lobbied for the Australian Early 

Development Index (an assessment 

tool modelled on the Canadian Early 

Development Index) to be implemented 

through schools in the Swan 

Education District. The tool measures 

the vulnerability of children in five 

developmental realms and is collated in 

postcode areas. 

It will help the City to identify agencies 

and broker partnerships to address 

these vulnerabilities. It will also help 

to prioritise the City’s approach to 

the planning of programs, projects, 

services and facilities to improve the 

health, wellbeing and educational 

outcomes for young children and their 

families at the local level.

Young people

The City continued its commitment to 

young people during 2005/06 with a 

strong team of development officers 

and outreach workers who supported 

community-based agencies and groups 

to deliver appropriate programs and 

services. The City undertook a place-

based assessment of opportunities and 

challenges across the different areas in 

Swan, and in 2006/07 will review the 

City’s youth policy.

Youth centre support 

The City continued to support 

the growth and development of 

community-run youth centres and 

services, and moved to provide more 

financial and staffing security for 

centres in future by establishing service 

agreements and significantly increased 

core funding by 2007.

In Ballajura, the City successfully 

completed the final year of a care-taker 

support role for the Dungeon Youth 

Centre, with development officers 

successfully facilitating a suitable 

management structure and processes 

within the local community so that 

management of the centre to return 

to community hands.  Support also 

shifted to focus on obtaining State 

Government funding for the service 

aspects of the centre.

In Ellenbrook, the City built a youth 

activity room as part of the Coolamon 

Sporting Pavilion project, equipped with 

recreational activities for young people, 

and staffed part time by a youth worker, 

with the aim to increase local volunteer 

support to see the room open more 

regularly.

Youth Advisory Committee

The City’s Youth Advisory Committee 

(YAC) continued to operate throughout 

2005/06 with its members meeting 

monthly to plan and develop 

community projects for young people, 

including the popular Hyper Winterfest 

and several community art projects and 

local events across the City. The YAC 

is also a group through which young 

people can raise issues and make 

recommendations to the Council.

Hyper Winterfest

Hyper Winterfest 2005 continued to 

build on the success of the previous 

year, with another strong celebration 

of vibrant youth culture, organised for 

young people, by young people. More 

than 3,500 young people enjoyed the 

wide range of activities including dance, 

skate, art, rides and food. However, 

the music was the core attraction, with 

three different music stages featuring 

high profile international and interstate 

acts including Shihad, Frenzal Rhomb 

and Bliss ‘n Esso, alongside local 

performers and DJs. The City of Swan 

is now preparing for Hyper 2006.
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Recreation Education Arts and Life 
Skills program

R.E.A.L. was established by a collective 

of Midland-based agencies to provide 

meaningful activity options for local 

young people identified as being in 

need of targeted support, and also to 

increase positive relationships between 

young people and Swan Park Leisure 

Centre. As part of the multi-agency 

partnership, the City undertakes the 

significant responsibility of employing 

the program coordinator and 

administering grant funding.

In 2005/06 the program continued 

successfully and the City began to 

consider replicating the program in the 

Altone ward if additional funding can be 

secured.

Seniors

Positive Ageing

The City of Swan in 2005/06 

responded to priorities identified in its 

Positive Ageing Plan consultations. 

The City provided more information 

regarding issues concerning seniors 

and investigated the housing needs of 

older people.

Twice-yearly information sessions were 

held in various Place areas, with a total 

of twelve separate sessions held during 

the year. The City was successful in 

seeking contributions from Centrelink, 

Seniors Recreation Council and the 

Fire and Emergency Services Authority. 

Attendance numbers are increasing.

A project to undertake the Older 

Person’s Accommodation Study and 

develop a Strategy has commenced 

and is due for completion in early 

2006/07.

Tales of Time Past

Tales of Times Past is an 

intergenerational, intercultural seniors 

project, coordinated by the City of 

Swan and funded by a grant from 

the Outer Metropolitan Community 

Fund. The project helps local seniors 

hone their storytelling skills, and then 

speak with schoolchildren, as a way 

to improve communication between 

the generations and also to bring local 

history to life. Programs have started 

in Midland, Bullsbrook and Ellenbrook, 

while an Indigenous program is being 

planned.

Swan Grants

Swan Grants is the City of Swan’s 

grants program, designed to help fund 

community groups and community 

projects that would otherwise not be 

possible.

In 2005/06 the City of Swan re-

launched its Swan Grants program 

to make it more equitable and 

accountable. This will help the City 

ensure the grants are used in the most 

productive way possible for the benefit 

of the community.

Health and safety

Road safety

In 2005/06 the Swan Roadwise 

Committee, in cooperation with the City 

of Swan and local police, continued 

a public awareness campaign aimed 

at educating and informing motorists 

on a series of new and commonly 

misunderstood road rules and 

encourage safer driving, pedestrian and 

bike riding practices. The campaign 

mascot, Reggie the Road Safety Swan, 

appeared in City of Swan publications 

to convey a rule for motorists to keep in 

mind while driving. 

The RoadWise committee is comprised 

of representatives from the City, police, 

RoadWise, FESA, community groups 

and the local community.

Community safety

The City of Swan’s community safety 

unit is made up of Community Rangers, 

Customer Advocates, Development 

Compliance and Volunteer Emergency 

Services (Bush Fire brigades and 

State Emergency Services). It is also 

responsible for providing various 

community safety initiatives such as 

R.E.A.L. was established 
by a collective of Midland-
based agencies to provide 
meaningful activity options 
for local young people 
identified as being in need 
of targeted support...

Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being
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community-funded security patrols 

within Ellenbrook and The Vines.

The community safety unit dealt with 

7,873 requests for service in the 

2005/06 financial year, of which 3,409 

(43%) were related to animal requests 

(eg dogs, stock), 1,344 (17%) were 

related to development compliance 

issues while 997 (13%) were parking 

related and 481 (6%) were relevant to 

Fire Control. The remaining 1,642 (21%) 

were generic categories including initial 

inspections for maintenance issues.

The City employs five customer 

advocates that operate in specific 

places within the City to help residents 

with day to day service provision and 

manage community expectations 

of the City’s service delivery. These 

officers dealt with almost 50% of the 

community safety unit’s requests for 

service.

New equipment and vehicles – fire 
services

The Emergency Services Levy (ESL) 

continues to facilitate new appliances 

and upgrades to fire stations within 

the City of Swan. During 2005/06 the 

City received replacement vehicles for 

the Bush Fire Brigades, and both the 

SES and West Swan Brigade received 

station facility improvements. Each 

year emergency service appliances are 

programmed for replacement utilising 

the ESL funding.

The partnership arrangement via a 

memorandum of understanding with 

the Fire and Emergency Services 

Authority (FESA) and the City of Swan 

continues to assist with the increased 

capacity for City of Swan Bush Fire 

Brigade volunteers to operate in a 

more efficient and professional manner 

in protecting the community from 

seasonal wildfires.

Arts and culture

The City of Swan’s arts and culture 

program for 2005/06 focussed on 

working with the community to 

strengthen the strong arts traditions in 

the region. The Cultural Development 

Office has worked closely with local 

artists and arts groups creating 

a strong network, with a variety 

of projects including the Australia 

Business Arts Foundations ‘Arts 

Connecting Communities’ program.

Arts festivals – Urban Edge

The 2005 Urban Edge event, the 

Midland Projections Program, was 

coordinated by Artrage and featured 

the Midland Town Hall. Young people 

from local schools and youth centres 

participated in workshops to develop 

images based on the Midland Town 

Hall, which were mounted and 

displayed as an exhibition in the 

bank gallery. These images were 

also projected on to the Town Hall 

façade over a number of nights during 

October 2005. A publication featuring 

photographs of all stages of the project 

and quotes from participants was 

created to commemorate this unique 

arts experience.

The bank gallery

The bank gallery, named after the 

building’s past life as an ANZ bank, 

is a cultural resource serving the 

communities of Swan and the 

northeastern region that is dedicated 

to providing opportunities for people 

to broach and critically interact with 

innovative ideas across the arts, 

sciences and new technologies.

In 2005/06, 10 exhibitions were 

shown at the bank gallery and more 

than 200 local artists had their works 

exhibited including sculpture, paintings, 

photographs, poetry, aerosol art and 

knitted works. Community use of the 

gallery included 14 free community 

art workshops, one magazine launch, 

two youth music events, one media 

launch, eight theatre rehearsals and 

five performances, regular meetings 

of arts groups, and 12 artist in 

residence sessions (for intellectually 

disabled artists and their carers).  The 

bank gallery has become a vibrant 
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community arts space that attracts 

an average of 200 visitors per week, 

mostly City of Swan residents.

NAIDOC – Respect!

NAIDOC acknowledges and celebrates 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

cultures and the achievements of 

Indigenous people in Australia. A 

number of events and activities took 

place in the City of Swan to celebrate 

NAIDOC Week 2005, and the City 

presented free performances of Barking 

Gecko Theatre Company’s show 

Crabbing at High Tide at the Midland 

Town Hall.

World music 

In partnership with Kulcha Multicultural 

Arts, the City took the popular 

concert series Kulcha on Swan out 

of doors to parks throughout the City 

in the summer and autumn of 2006. 

Multicultural bands and dancers were 

featured in free performances and 

workshops, and local community 

groups worked with the Kulcha on 

Swan series to create vibrant events.

Food safety 2005/06 

Environmental Health Planning

The City completed a Forward 

Functional Service Plan (FFSP) for its 

environmental health unit. This plan 

links the Corporate Plan and the unit’s 

annual business activity plan; That is, it 

provides the link between the high-

level organisational strategic aims and 

objectives, and the business end of 

environmental health practice.  

The FFSP identifies priority program 

areas and details how the City’s 

environmental health unit will plan, 

implement, monitor and evaluate these 

program areas.

Food safety 2005/06 

During the year under review the City 

undertook 1,300 risk assessments 

of the 629 food premises within its 

boundaries.  This is an increase of four 

premises from the previous financial 

year. A total of 84 improvement orders 

were issued with respect to food safety 

in food premises.

Complaint investigation

The City investigated 704 

environmental health complaints in 

2005/06. Complaints were made 

on various matters including noise, 

water, air pollution, food safety, public 

health pests (for example, rodents/

mosquitoes) and accommodation. 

Most complaints were about excessive 

noise (42%), air pollution (19%) and 

food safety (14%).

Country of origin labelling

The State Government legislated in 

2005/06 that all produce sold in WA 

supermarkets or grocery stores must 

be labelled with the country in which 

it was grown. The City of Swan took 

a low-key approach to this legislation, 

choosing to respond to community 

complaints rather than actively police 

food labelling.

Waste management

The City’s waste collection service 

serviced 36,817 households this 

year, collecting 34,430.4 tonnes of 

refuse, while the recycling service 

collected 6861.3 tonnes of recycled 

material in 2005/06 from 33,340 

households.  Throughout the year the 

total number of household services 

was approximately 1.83 million while 

the number of recycling services 

undertaken was 866,840. In the last 

financial year the City has replaced 

one refuse truck and purchased an 

additional truck to cater for the growth 

within

NAIDOC acknowledges 
and celebrates Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait 
Islander cultures and the 
achievements of Indigenous 
people in Australia.

Key Result Area 03
Enhancing community well-being



Key Result Area 04
Valuing our natural environment
The City’s work toward protecting and enhancing the 

natural environment is recounted in this section. Specifically 

noted is the environmentally awareness to planning, the 

identification of high value ecosystems and measures to 

minimise pollution.
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Key Result Area 04
Valuing our natural environment

The City’s significance as a water 
catchment and green-belt for Perth 
gives regional significance to 
many of the environment issues 
it faces as does the number of 
features of regional significance to 
be found within the area including 
two river systems, Swan Coastal 
Plain, the Darling and Dandaragan 
Plateaus and several reservations 
and conservation areas. To avoid 
the adverse effects of the region’s 
current rapid growth on the natural 
environment, the City has made 
concerted efforts to ensure the 
environment is a key consideration 
when making decisions about 
planning and development.

Planning for the environment

Environmental Planning Policy

In the first quarter of the financial year, 

the Council adopted an environmental 

planning policy to guide the design, 

assessment and management of 

environmental impacts of new urban 

areas. 

The policy identifies broad objectives 

and detailed planning requirements for:

• The investigation of environmental 

impacts on-site and off-site, 

including the cumulative impacts of 

development

• Requirements for preparation of 

Management Plans for stormwater, 

bushland, wetlands and acid sulfate 

soils

• Acceptable solutions and Council 

and developer responsibilities 

for ongoing management and 

monitoring of environmental 

impacts and systems

The policy is implemented through the 

preparation of statutory plans for new 

urban areas and plays a key role in the 

City’s day-to-day decision making.

Biodiversity strategy

The City of Swan is at the forefront 

of biodiversity conservation, after 

it became one of the first local 

governments in Western Australia to 

finalise its Local Biodiversity Strategy in 

November 2005.

The Local Biodiversity Strategy is a 

framework for conserving biodiversity in 

the City Of Swan.  It is a key document 

guiding natural resource management 

in the City over the next five to ten 

years.

The strategy is particularly important 

for the City Of Swan because of the 

notable communities of plants and 

animals in the metropolitan area. 

There are more than 46,000 hectares 

of native vegetation within the City of 

Swan, including significant species 

and ecosystems not yet protected 

by regional reserves or national parks 

and more than 40 declared rare and 

priority-listed flora species and several 

threatened fauna species.

Environmental programs

Hazardous waste

The City of Swan encouraged its 

residents to clear their properties of 

agricultural and chemical drums as part 

of the drumMUSTER program.

The program is a joint project between 

the National Farmers Federation, 

Australian Local Government 

Association, AV Care and Veterinary 

Manufacturers and Distributors 

Asssociation with support from the City 

of Swan.

Under the project, residents can take all 

clean, empty drums, from one-litre to 

205-litres, to the Red Hill waste facility. 

The City also continued its twice yearly 

collections of household hazardous 

products and chemicals.
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Cities for Climate Protection

The City of Swan continued 

demonstrating leadership in 

environmental management with more 

work being undertaken under the Cities 

for Climate Protection (CCP) program.

During this financial year, the City 

completed Milestone Five (re-inventory) 

of the Cities for Climate Protection 

program. This involved collating energy 

and waste data from the most recent 

complete financial year and comparing 

the results with those obtained from 

Milestone One. This report confirmed 

that the City of Swan has achieved an 

overall reduction in greenhouse gas 

emissions when measured on a per 

capita basis, over the course of its 

involvement in the Cities for Climate 

Protection. 

Following submission of this report, the 

City has continued to pursue a variety 

of projects and strategies that will assist 

in reducing the greenhouse footprint of 

the City of Swan and the community.

Rural Properties Revegetation 
Program

The City of Swan gave owners of rural 

property the chance to improve the 

environment with its Rural Properties 

Revegetation Program. The program 

enabled landowners with properties 

within the City of Swan 10,000 square 

metres (2.5 acres) or larger to apply to 

receive a free allocation of locally native 

trees, shrubs and groundcovers free 

from the City. 

Support

Local catchment groups

The City of Swan provided financial 

support for environmental projects 

being operated by various community 

groups throughout the City of Swan. 

More than $60,000 in grants was made 

for a variety of  environmental programs 

via the City’s Swan Grants program.

The City of Swan gave 
owners of rural property 
the chance to improve the 
environment with its Rural 
Properties Revegetation 
Program.



Key Result Area 05
Managing the organisation
Details of the internal support and management services 

provided within the City of Swan to enable the effective 

delivery of services to the community are provided in this 

section.
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Proper and effective management 
of the components that make 
up the organisation is integral 
to the quality of the services, 
opportunities and development 
offered to the community by the 
City of Swan. The City strives to 
be innovative in its approach to 
management in order to provide the 
community with the best possible 
service.

Swan Council

The City’s Council is elected by the 

community to represent it and govern 

its course into the future with direct 

input from the residents and ratepayers. 

Council is responsible for overseeing 

the City’s finances and resources and 

determining its policies and laws to 

ensure the City’s responsibilities are 

carried out effectively and efficiently.

Information technology and records 

management

The City introduced a new library 

system, which among other things 

allows the automatic notification of 

a library patron if a new book of his 

favourite author has arrived at the 

library. The new library system allows 

the patrons to make online reservations 

for books, DVDs and many other items. 

A three-kilometre long fibre optic cable 

was installed between the City’s main 

administration building in Midland 

Square and the Operations Centre at 

the corner of Great Northern Hwy and 

Bishop Rd. This link enables all staff 

at the Operations Centre to utilise the 

City’s core applications at the same 

access speed as staff in the main 

Administration Building, which leads to 

significant productivity increases.

A key indicator of information 

technology success at the City is the 

availability of its programs and services. 

All the core applications of the City had 

an availability of above 99.7%.

The City is providing Geographical 

Information Services to the City 

of Kalgoorlie-Boulder as part of 

a partnership agreement where 

Kalgoorlie-Boulder bears the cost of 

providing these services.

Road Numbering and Naming

A list of road numbering and naming 

anomalies has been prepared by 

the City. A proposal to correct a 

high-priority anomaly, Swan Street 

in Guildford, was passed by Council 

and, working together with residents, 

solutions have been finalised to re-

name sections of the road. 

In May 2006, the Council gave 

approval that the Department of Land 

Information launch the Rural Street 

Numbering project in the City of 

Swan, because the continued use of 

some lot numbers had the potential to 

confuse emergency services, visitors 

and delivery services. The new street 

numbers meet a national standard and 

the City is reducing the risk that an 

emergency vehicle is delayed.

Document, Records and Workflow 
Management System

The roll-out of the City’s new document 

management system, DataWorks, 

continued in 2005/06. In August 2005 

a post-implementation review noted 

that the system design and set-up 

closely matched current best-practice.

A new product, Minutes Manager, was 

implemented to improve the production 

of Council agendas and minutes. The 

Minutes Manager product integrates 

with DataWorks and manages the 

agenda to minutes to action items 

process. The method to workflow 

action items enables the City to have 

a fully auditable sequence of events 

pertaining to any Council resolution and 

its subsequent actions. 

Key Result Area 05
Managing the organisation

The City’s Council is 
elected by the community 
to represent it and govern 
its course into the future 
with direct input from the 
residents and ratepayers. 
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Planning

AUS-SPEC

Best practice in all its subdivision, 

property development and internal 

works was the aim for the City with 

AUS-SPEC documentation as its guide 

for capital work standards. AUS-SPEC 

#1 provides a basis upon which design 

procedures can be standardised, while 

AUS-SPEC #2 operates similarly for 

construction specifications.

The two documents play an important 

role in the management of the City’s 

assets. Contractors and suppliers to 

the City of Swan now have access to 

all the City’s AUS-SPEC based contract 

documentation and guidelines via the 

council’s website.

Staff health and safety

Occupational safety and health audit 
and evaluation 

In 2005/06, City’s Occupational Safety 

and Health program was audited.

The initial audit results indicated 

that the fundamental safety and 

health elements are in place.  In this 

preliminary audit the City scored the 

following:

• OHS policy – 80%

• Planning – 98%

• Implementation – 74%

• Training – 92%

• Consultation, communication and 

reporting – 81%

• Documentation – 81%

• Hazard identification, risk 

assessment and control – 77%

• Emergency preparation and control 

– 90%

• Measurement and evaluation – 81%

• Management systems – 78%

The assessor made recommendations 

to give priority to the categories where 

the City did not score over 80%.

Staff safety program

Following the implementation of a 

safety program for staff in the City’s 

Leisure Centres and Libraries to help 

them address potentially dangerous 

situations relating to anti-social and 

aggressive behaviour, the program 

was expanded in 2005/06 to three 

additional business units that meet 

directly with customers – health, 

community development and 

community safety.

The City has this year increased its 

network of employee trainers, who 

provide training in Preferred Practice 

Guidelines to assist new and existing 

employees, from four to seven.

Incident statistics from Leisure and 

Libraries have shown a significant drop 

in the three years since the program’s 

implementation, as well as an 

improvement in employee confidence 

when faced with anti-social behaviour.

Employee Wellness Initiative

The City provided employees with 

opportunities to participate in health 

initiatives, including:

• Flu vaccinations

• Hearing tests

• Eyesight tests

• Ergonomic assessments

• Employee assistance program

• Discounted gymnasium 

membership at City leisure centres

Setting a goal

The City has set a goal in Safety 

and Health to be a leader in Local 

Government by identifying gaps and 

developing solutions to effectively 

manage the safety and health of its 

employees, visitors, volunteers and 

contractors.

The City’s safety and health statistics 

was relatively better than the average 

outcomes published in the EMRC Local 

Government Comparison Scheme.

Key Result Area 05
Managing the organisation

The City has set a goal in 
Safety and Health to be a 
leader in Local Government 
by identifying gaps and 
developing solutions 
to effectively manage 
the safety and health of 
its employees, visitors, 
volunteers and contractors.
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Equal opportunity in the workplace

The City continued with its approach 

to equal opportunity in the work place 

under a policy which clearly describes 

the City’s expectations of its employees 

with respect to discrimination and 

harassment. The City has established 

grievance procedures and appointed 

grievance officers to ensure any 

complaints are dealt with in a timely 

and effective manner.

Training and Development

Internal training program

The City’s internal training program 

continued its growth in 2005/06. A total 

of 998 places were filled by staff across 

23 internal subjects during the year.

As part of this, 31 staff members 

earned recognised qualifications. 

Two key qualifications were offered 

– the Certificate IV in Business for 

developing team leaders and the 

Diploma in Project Management for 

staff involved in both ‘built’ projects 

such as community facilities, roads 

etc and ‘soft’ projects such as the 

implementation of IT systems and the 

development of community programs.

Online learning program

Since mid-2005 City staff has been 

able to access computer skills training 

online, both from their desks and from 

home. This innovative approach to 

building computer skills has also been 

available to staff family members.

Induction

The induction program for new 

employees was extended and 

improved during the year, increasing 

the opportunity for new staff to start 

their employment with the City on the 

right foot. The program is now delivered 

entirely by internal trainers and will see 

additional exciting improvements in the 

year ahead.

AWARDS

Awards received

City of Swan wins prestigious WA 
Tourism Award

The City of Swan won another 

prestigious WA Tourism Award in 

November 2005 – the second WA 

Tourism Award in as many years. 

The City received the award in the 

Tourism Product Marketing category, 

for its partnership with the Swan Valley 

Marketing Group in promoting the 

Swan Valley to the Perth market.

The award was significant because 

it showed what business and local 

government can achieve when 

they work together. More than 100 

businesses joined with the City for the 

project.

Sport and Recreation Industry Award 
for Commitment to Participation

The City was awarded in November 

2005 for its efforts to ensure all City 

of Swan residents, including those in 

disadvantaged or marginalised groups, 

could access leisure activities.  The City 

worked with various State Government 

agencies responsible for indigenous 

affairs, housing, disabilities, mental 

health and multicultural interests, 

to introduce a number of different 

initiatives.

This award is particularly meaningful for 

the City because it believes fervently 

that everyone should be able to access 

leisure activities – from swimming 

facilities, team sports and gym facilities 

to walking groups, tai chi classes and 

kindy gym.
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Community Service Industry Award

The City of Swan received a Western 

Australian Community Service Industry 

Award for a business and community 

partnership between the City, Transfield 

Services Australia and Bullsbrook 

community members. This partnership, 

the Bullsbrook and Districts Community 

Reference Group, has a focus on 

building community spirit, skill and 

capacity with local people taking 

responsibility for local issues.

This award recognises the City of 

Swan and its partners in Bullsbrook 

as leaders in community development 

and business partnerships in Western 

Australia.

Accessible Communities

The Accessible Communities Awards 

recognise programs which improve 

access to community facilities and 

services for seniors and people 

with disabilities.  The City of Swan 

received a commendation in 2005 for 

its approach to access and inclusion 

across a range of initiatives.

Awards presented

Australia Day Citizenship awards

The City of Swan presented its Australia 

Day Local Government Awards on 

January 26, 2006, at a special function 

at the Midland Town Hall. The awards 

recognised the achievements of the 

recipients and the work they have done 

for the community.

Winners of the City of Swan Premier’s 

Australia Day Active Citizenship 

Awards in 2005/06 were the Ballajura 

Community College Concert Band 

and Barbershop Vocal Group (for 

its community performances and 

ambassadorial role), 1st Bullsbrook 

Air Scout Group (for its community 

programs), Charles Eadon-Clarke (for 

his contribution toward promoting 

the history of the State and ongoing 

involvement with local seniors), Diane 

Stickells (for her dedication towards 

foster children) and Tiffany Rowe (for 

her dedication to young people in the 

community).

Report on 2005/06 Activities

In 2006 the Local Government Act 

1995 was amended so that Local 

Governments were no longer required 

to annually produce Principal Activity 

Plans. Councils were provided with 

a number of options in regard to 

future planning, one of which was the 

preparation of a strategic plan based 

on community consultation. In addition, 

a number of other future planning 

options and tools were provided to 

Councils. The City of Swan has chosen 

to prepare a strategic plan, including 

a ten year strategic financial plan. 

Councillors together with the executive 

team will conduct a strategic planning 

exercise which will include input by all 

City staff. The City expects the strategic 

plan will be advertised for community 

input by the forth quarter of 2006.

Once finalised, the strategic plan will 

set the future direction for the City of 

Swan and the services and facilities it 

provides.

Local Laws

Following the gazettal of a new set of 

consolidated local laws in February 

2005, no changes were made to the 

local laws in 2005/06.

The laws govern issues such as the 

use of public property and streets, 

water drainage affecting neighbouring 

land, dog restriction areas, and much 

more.

Key Result Area 05
Managing the organisation
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Disability access

As an organisation committed to 

enhancing community well-being, the 

City of Swan aims to ensure people 

with disabilities are afforded the same 

opportunities as others within the 

community. The City of Swan further 

demonstrated its commitment to 

access and inclusion by appointing an 

Access and Inclusion Officer in 2005.

The Access and Inclusion program 

aims to increase inclusive practice 

throughout all of the City’s services with 

the specific objectives of: 

• Increase the number of people with 

disabilities and other marginalised 

groups accessing City of Swan 

recreation and leisure services and 

programs

• Increase the participation of people 

with disabilities in mainstream 

recreational programs

• Promote the inclusion of people 

with disabilities and other 

marginalised members of the 

community in active and passive 

recreation

• Establish and coordinate a network 

of local agencies committed to 

providing accessible recreation/

leisure opportunities

• Ensure up to date information is 

available on accessible facilities and 

programs

• Link with the City of Swan Disability 

Access and Inclusion Plan

• Promote health and wellbeing 

benefits of being actively involved in 

recreation and leisure programs to 

people with disabilities

There are about 15,000 residents 

within the City of Swan with moderate 

to severe disabilities.  Many of these 

people and their families are rate-

payers and contribute to community 

well-being, but they are often 

vulnerable and require the support of 

the local community.

The City has also established a 

Disability Access and Inclusion 

Committee to guide the implementation 

of its Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan.
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Record Keeping

The City of Swan, through its policies, 

procedures and records management 

program, demonstrates a commitment 

to sound record keeping practices 

in compliance with legislative 

requirements. 

Records are recognised as an 

important information resource and 

it is accepted that sound record 

keeping will contribute to the overall 

efficiency and effectiveness of the City’s 

operations.

Record Keeping Plan

The City was required to submit 

additional documentation clarifying 

certain record keeping aspects to the 

State Records Office for approval. 

These documents were submitted by 

April 2006.

Training

The City of Swan continues to provide 

a records management induction 

every fortnight. The induction is 

provided to all new staff, who will be 

creating, collecting and accessing 

records during their employment. The 

induction addresses record keeping 

responsibilities in regards to the 

creation and capture of documents; 

provision of access to documents, and 

the appropriate disposal of documents. 

The City undertook an assessment of 

an on-line record keeping awareness 

training program and has budgeted 

for the purchase of this program in the 

2006/07 budget.

The City’s appointed document 

management trainer resigned in 

December 2004. Training in DataWorks 

has continued to be delivered by a 

member of the Computing Services 

team whilst the appointment of a 

full-time trainer was resolved with 

Management. A comprehensive eight-

hour training session is provided to all 

new users, with refresher training and 

one-to-one support available upon 

request. A total of 251 staff members 

were provided with end-user training 

and/or refresher training and support 

during 2005/06.

Performance Indicators

Key Performance Indications for the 

records management program were 

developed during 2005/06. The 

KPI measures are currently awaiting 

management approval.

Internal Record Keeping Audits

No internal record keeping audits were 

conducted for 2005/06. It is anticipated 

that the first two business units to be 

audited will be completed by December 

2006.

Document Management System 
Evaluation

A post-implementation review of 

DataWorks was held in August 2005. 

It was noted that the system design 

and set-up closely matched current 

best-practice. Issues for attention 

included clarification from the CEO of 

responsibilities and expectations in 

relation to system use and reducing 

access to shared network drives.

A full evaluation of the efficiency and 

effectiveness of the City’s record 

keeping program and systems is 

scheduled for 2009.

Awareness-raising

The City’s “Records Reporter” 

information newsletter was 

reintroduced. The newsletter aims 

to keep staff abreast of any relevant 

record keeping issues and system 

updates as well as providing handy 

system hints and tips. Issued quarterly, 

Issue 5 was released to all staff at the 

end of June 2006.

This report has been produced to 

comply with the requirements of the 

State Records Act 2000.

Key Result Area 05
Managing the organisation

The City of Swan continues 
to provide a records 
management induction 
every fortnight.
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STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Local Government Act 1995 

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 

The attached financial report of the City of Swan being the annual financial report and supporting notes and other information for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2006 are in my opinion properly drawn up to present fairly the financial position of the City of Swan at 30 
June 2006 and the results of the operations for the financial year then ended in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and 
comply with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1995 and the regulations under that Act. 

Signed on the 6th day of October, 2006. 

M J FOLEY 

Chief Executive Officer 

Financials
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006 

The Financial Report for the 2005/06 financial year has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1995, the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 including amendments up to June 2006, and the relevant Australian
Accounting Standards. The Statements have been prepared on a full accrual basis, and recognise the value of all infrastructure assets 
(roads, drains, footpaths, parks and reserves).

INCOME STATEMENT 

Revenue from ordinary activities 

The City’s revenue from ordinary activities for the financial year was $67.47 million compared to $59.36 million for the previous year. The 
13.66% increase over the previous year, was largely due to rate increases of $3.4 million included as General Purpose Funding; and $1.4 
million for the Lloyd Street works included as Transport. 

Figure 1 shows the breakdown of revenue by programs. The City’s emphasis on roads and rubbish is reflected in these funding 
contributions to the two largest segments being rates income ($40.5 million) included in General Purpose Funding and sanitation charges 
($5.8 million) included in Community Amenities. The next major category of Transport is funded primarily by capital and operating grants.

The City continues to have strong development outcomes and received $19.54 million, (up from $ 16.60 million in 2004/05) of non-cash
infrastructure assets (i.e. roads, drains, footpaths and parks) from developers of new land areas. The value of these contributions are shown 
as non-operating income in the Income Statement. The City takes on the responsibility for the maintenance of these assets, and these
contributions are taken into account in the City’s asset register. 

Analysis of the Operating Revenue by nature and type shows that the major source of revenue in 2005/06 was from rates levied, which 
amounted to $40.50 million, and was $0.9 million more than the budget. This increase was due to increase in the value of properties
subject to the rate levy, resulting from a combination of growth and revaluation.

The next main source of revenue was the sanitation charges which at $5.89 million was $0.6 million more than the previous year although
slightly below budget. 

Government grants and subsidies for operating and capital expenses continued to be important sources of income for the City in 2005/06. 
The City received $8.45 million during the year, compared with $11.68 million the previous year. Of the amount received, $5.58 million was 
for operating activities and $2.85 million for capital projects.
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J Figure 1 Revenue from ordinary activites 

A General Purpose Funding 67.14%

B Governance 1.41%

C Law Order & Public Safety 1.97%

D Health 0.35%

E Education & Welfare 3.69%

F Housing 0.14%

G Community Amenities 9.53%

H Recreation & Culture 6.85%

I Transport 5.95%

J Economic Services 2.60%

K Other Property & Services 0.38%
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Expenses from ordinary activities

The Transport Program which includes the maintenance of more than 1,253 kilometres of roads, consumed 35.97 % or $ 24.75 million
of the operating budget was the source of greatest expenditure for the year. The increase in program expenses occurred due to a $1.5 
million increase for depreciation charges, for roads and other infrastructure assets; which at $14.5 million was the largest component of the 
transport program expenses.

The next substantial program, Recreation & Culture, consumed 25.98% or $ 17.87 million of expenditure. The major components of this
program are the operations of Swan Park Recreation Centre, Altone Park Recreation Centre, Ballajura Aquatic Centre and the six libraries,
and the maintenance of the different Parks and Reserves. There is a small reduction of $20,000 in expenditure compared to the previous 
period.
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J Figure 2 Revenue from ordinary activites 

A Rate levies 60.03%

B Sanitation charges 8.74%

C Drainage charges 0.74%

D Security service charges 0.88%

E Other statutory charges 3.43%

F User charges 8.06%

G Operating grants & subsidies 8.28%

H Contributions and reimbursements 4.91%

I Interest earnings 2.48%

J Other revenue 2.45%
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Figure 3 Revenue from ordinary activites 

A General Purpose Funding 1.36%

B Governance 14.11%

C Law Order & Public Safety 3.85%

D Health 1.16%

E Education & Welfare 5.99%

F Community Amenities 11.16%

G Recreation & Culture 25.98%

H Transport 35.97%

I Economic Services 2.31%

J Other Property & Services -1.89%

E

G

H
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Analysis of the expenses by nature and type indicates that the main source of expenditure was Employee Costs at $28.35 million or 
41.20% of operating costs. The actual amount is $0.75 million less than budget. 

Depreciation of non-current assets, which amounted to $20.75 million or 30.18 % of total expenses, was the second largest area of
expense and increased by 5% over the previous year. This increase was $4.1 million above budget and shows the increased worth of the 
City. Note that the 2004/05 budget was ‘adopted’ before the substantial $110 million revaluation of the City’s assets.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The City received $68.20 million during 2005/06 from operating activities, an increase of $7.13 million compared to the previous year. The 
main sources of cash were rates and sanitation charges which increased by $5.5 million over the previous year; a good result which shows 
that almost all such payments invoiced during the year were collected. However income from other business activities declined by $1.64 
million supporting the concern of local government of cost shifting. Operating grants and subsidies also declined by almost $0.4 million. 

Payments for operating activities in 2005/06 totalled $50.16 million, an increase of $5.43 million compared to the previous year. Employee 
costs rose by $3.43 million, materials & contracts increased by $1.54 million and there was $0.48 million reduction in the grants and 
donations paid to community groups. 

The net cash provided by operating activities was $18.04 million, an increase of $3.4 million over the prior period.

The net cash used in 2005/06 to invest in City assets (plant, equipment, construction of roads and buildings, etc) was $13.69 million
compared to $11.60 million the previous year. Capital grants made to the City declined by $2.84 million. The City’s capital works program 
was $6.94 million below budget, and $0.41 million less than the previous year.  The reduction was due to the deferment in three major 
building projects totalling $3 million. 

The overall effect of all activities of the City during 2005/06 was an increase in the cash balance by $4.15 million to $18.00 million.

D

Figure 4 Revenue from ordinary activites 

A Employee costs 41.20%

B Materials & Contracts 24.94%

C Utility charges 2.39%

D Interest expense 0.78%

E Depreciation 30.18%

F Subsidies and donations 0.51%
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STATEMENT OF RATING INFORMATION

The Local Government Act 1995 allows local governments to adopt differential rates, and the City of Swan has levied differential rates for 
a number of years. This has been adopted to allow an equitable basis of levying rates on the diverse types of rateable properties in the 
Municipality.

Properties in the urban suburbs of the Municipality have rates based on the Gross Rental Values (GRVs) of the properties as determined by 
the Valuer General once every three years. The year 2005/06 was a re-valuation year for GRV properties. The base rate in the dollar for GRV 
properties is the rate for residential properties, and this was decreased by 5.50% compared to that of the previous year. This was done to 
offset the increase in total GRVs for residential properties due to a revaluation undertaken by the Valuer-General.

Properties in the rural areas have rates based on the Unimproved Values (UVs) of the properties as determined by the Valuer General each 
year. The General Rural rate in the dollar is the base rate for rural properties. Concessional rates are set for Urban Farmland and Swan 
Valley Farmland, with a premium rate for Special Areas and Landscape zones.

The total rates levied in 2005/06 was $41.04 million. Ratepayers who paid their rate dues on or before the due date were given a 5% 
discount. Interest was charged on rates that were not paid on time. The total revenue levied, after allowing for discounts and interests 
amounted to $40.50 million for 2005/06, which was $0.91 million above the budgeted amount.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Measures the percentage of net rate revenue allocated to the repayment of loans.

The net annual growth of rate revenue compared with loan repayments each year.

Year %
1998/99 9.36%

1999/00 7.00%

2000/01 5.99%

2001/02 4.70%

2002/03 3.92%

2003/04 3.83%

2004/05 4.36%

2005/06 3.80%
0.00%
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Figure 5 Revenue from ordinary activites 
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Year Rates Repayments
1998/99 23.9 2.2

1999/00 25.2 1.8

2000/01 26.8 1.6

2001/02 29.5 1.4

2002/03 32.0 1.3

2003/04 34.2 1.3

2004/05 37.1 1.6

2005/06 40.5 1.5

Figure 6 Rates Income / Loan Repayments
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Measures the percentage of total operating revenue allocated to the repayment of loans.

Compares total principal outstanding on loans at the end of each financial year.

Compares total operating revenue over the current and previous financial years.

Year %
1998/99 5.51%

1999/00 3.73%

2000/01 3.38%

2001/02 2.81%

2002/03 2.29%

2003/04 2.26%

2004/05 2.72%

2005/06 2.28%1998/99 1999/00 2000/01 2001/02 2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06
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Figure 7 Debt Servicing Ratio
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1998/99 5.7
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2000/01 5.5

2001/02 4.7

2002/03 3.9

2003/04 7.8
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2005/06 7.7

Figure 8 Principal Outstanding
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1998/99 40.6

1999/00 47.3

2000/01 47.6

2001/02 49.5

2002/03 54.9

2003/04 58.0

2004/05 59.4

2005/06 67.5

Figure 9 Operating Revenue



Financials

City of Swan Annual Report 2005 – 2006

INCOME STATEMENT (BY PROGRAM) For the year ended 30 june 2006 

 Budget ($) Description Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

Revenue from Ordinary Activities

 44,075,101 General Purpose Income 24(a) 45,300,219 41,904,503

 353,810 Governance 949,825 448,125

 1,351,825 Law Order & Public Safety  1,328,746 1,311,442

 197,300 Health 233,114 206,298

 2,451,368 Education and Welfare  2,490,651 2,670,498

- Housing 96,864 85,772

 6,337,085 Community Amenities  6,429,444 5,956,230

 4,011,506 Recreation & Culture  4,624,564 3,964,605

 3,371,640 Transport  4,012,063 1,200,252

 1,350,100 Economic Services  1,754,603 1,429,313

 124,090 Other Property & Services 253,629 186,249

 63,623,825 Sub-Total revenue 3(a) 67,473,722 59,363,288

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

 (685,278) General Purpose Funding  (934,004) (351,291)

 (8,408,528) Governance  (9,710,349) (5,156,985)

 (3,040,144) Law Order & Public Safety  (2,649,162) (3,073,167)

 (761,138) Health  (801,732) (965,154)

 (4,611,100) Education and Welfare  (4,125,048) (4,348,287)

 (100) Housing - (13,741)

 (7,531,879) Community Amenities  (7,684,725) (7,783,825)

 (17,655,611) Recreation & Culture  (17,879,633) (17,900,557)

 (22,087,888) Transport  (24,758,783) (23,040,824)

 (1,924,664) Economic Services  (1,589,693) (2,268,267)

 (121,426) Other Property & Services  1,301,651 (469,362)

 (66,827,756) Sub-Total expenses 3(a) (68,831,478) (65,381,459)

ADD: Non- operating activities

- General Purpose Funding - -

- Governance (150) (88,708)

- Law Order & Public Safety - -

- Health 60,316 -

 125,000 Education and Welfare - 172,545

- Housing - -

- Community Amenities - 65,954

- Recreation & Culture  1,664,124 (50,672)

 3,333,100 Transport  21,186,063 22,056,081

- Economic Services - -

- Other Property & Services - (1,629)

 254,169 NET RESULT  21,552,598 16,135,399

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. An alternate format of this income statement - by ‘nature or type’ is shown on page 68
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BALANCE SHEET As at 30 june 2006

 Description Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

 CURRENT ASSETS

 Cash and cash equivalents 4 18,002,326 13,851,360

 Trade and other receivables 5 7,140,530 5,376,450

 Prepayments 6 42,370 99,595

 Inventory 7 308,895 223,249

 Total current assets 25,494,120 19,550,651

 CURRENT LIABILITIES

 Current borrowings 9 899,238 975,718

 Trade and other payables 10 5,335,048 4,950,271

 Income in advance 11 2,177,065 1,566,177

 Provisions 12 4,244,095 3,889,852

 Total current liabilities 12,655,446 11,382,018

 NET CURRENT ASSETS 12,838,674 8,168,633

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS

 Trade and other receivables 5 1,537,543 1,948,244

 Property, plant and equipment 8 521,496,663 506,401,314

 Investments 13 10,985,315 9,144,485

 Total non-current assets 534,019,521 517,494,043

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

 Long term borrowings 9 6,814,136 7,750,103

 Payables 10 1,663,112 2,187,274

 Provisions 12 920,060 924,074

 Total non-current liabilities 9,397,308 10,861,451

 NET ASSETS 537,460,889 514,801,225

EQUITY

 Accumulated Surplus 415,892,410 397,458,072

 Asset Revaluation Reserve 14 111,287,462 110,180,395

 Cash Backed Reserves 14 10,281,017 7,162,758

 TOTAL EQUITY 537,460,889 514,801,225

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the year ended 30 june 2006

Description Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

Reference 2005/06 2004/05

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Opening balance 397,458,072 382,088,156

Net result 14 21,552,597 16,135,399

Trf to (from) reserves 14 (3,118,259) (765,483)

Balance at end of the year 415,892,410 397,458,072

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE

Balance at beginning of year 110,180,395 21,385,181

Revaluation of non-current assets 8 (733,761) 87,829,506

Revaluation of investment in EMRC 14 1,840,830 965,708

Balance at end of the year 111,287,462 110,180,395

CASH BACKED RESERVES

Opening balance 7,162,758 6,397,275

Trf to (from) Acc. Surplus 8 3,118,259 765,483

Balance at end of the year 10,281,017 7,162,758

TOTAL EQUITY 537,460,889 514,801,225

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT For the year ended 30 june 2006

 Budget ($) Description Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

CASH FLOWS FROM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

 39,593,081 Rates levies  40,535,748 35,310,609

 5,914,585 Sanitation charges  5,899,007 5,204,402

 7,310,086 Fees & charges  6,968,575 8,953,500

 1,335,060 Interest earned 3(a) 1,670,599 1,487,172

 1,725,990 Contributions & reimbursements recd  3,309,803 1,728,056

 5,891,513 Operating grants & subsidies 3(a) 5,588,250 5,984,746

 272,510 All other revenue  2,093,259 372,588

- GST inflow  2,144,216 2,035,197

 62,042,825 Total receipts  68,209,457 61,076,720

Payments

 (17,969,778) Materials & contracts  (18,019,918) (16,017,190)

 (850,812) Donations & contributions paid  (351,383) (839,166)

 (1,964,764) Utility charges  (1,644,141) (1,711,412)

 (28,850,184) Employee costs  (27,918,649) (24,924,560)

 (645,618) Interest payments  (536,725) (508,086)

- GST outflow  (1,690,864) (2,429,896)

 (50,281,156) Total payments  (50,161,680) (46,430,310)

 11,761,669 Net cash from operating activities 21(b) 18,047,777 14,646,410

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 3,500,000 Proceeds from loans 9 - 2,000,000

 (1,022,900) Repayment of loans  (1,003,154) (1,118,317)

 142,560 Self supporting loans 9 422,015 170,561

 1,000,000 Town Planning Scheme 14 16 378,557 1,053,805

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 5,158,100 Capital grants & subsidies 3(a) 2,858,775 5,700,980

 2,378,600 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  2,178,908 1,842,367

 (15,788,545) Purchase / construction of infrastructure  (12,134,277) (10,438,257)

 (9,886,570) Purchase / construction of capital assets   (6,597,636) (8,707,419)

 (18,138,415) Net cash used in investing activities 21(c) (13,694,230) (11,602,329)

 (2,757,086) Net increase (decrease) in cash held  4,150,966 5,150,130

 11,931,703 Cash at the beginning of the year  13,851,360 8,701,230

 9,174,617 CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 21(a) 18,002,326 13,851,360

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RATE SETTING STATEMENT For the year ended 30 june 2006

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06

OPERATING REVENUE

 5,914,585 Sanitation charges 5,899,007

 7,310,086 Other fees and charges 8,844,355

 5,891,513 Operating grants and subsidies 5,588,250

 3,306,990 Contributions and reimbursements 3,309,803

 1,335,060 Interest earnings 1,670,599

 272,510 Other receipts 1,655,816

 24,030,744 Sub-Total - operating revenue 26,967,830

OPERATING EXPENSE

 (17,799,366) Materials and contracts (17,166,440)

 (903,312) Other payments (351,383)

 (1,964,764) Utility charges (1,644,141)

 (645,618) Interest expense (536,725)

 (28,850,184) Employee costs (28,357,316)

 (16,665,600) Depreciation (20,775,473)

 (66,828,844) Sub-Total operating expense (68,831,478)

 (42,798,100) Net cash from / (on) operating activities (41,863,648)

ADD:

 3,458,100 Capital grants and subsidies 2,858,775

 2,378,600 Proceeds from sale of assets 2,178,908

 16,665,600 Depreciation written back 20,775,473

LESS: Capital Expenditure

 (15,788,545) Purchase construction of infrastructure (12,134,277)

 (9,886,570) Purchase construction of other assets (6,597,636)

 (3,172,815) Net 7,081,243

LESS:

 (880,340) Repayment of loans (1,012,447)

 (4,485,988) Transfers to reserves (6,552,239)

- Closing funds (6,670,223)

ADD: Funding Sources

 3,500,000 Proceeds from loans -

 4,022,980 Transfers from reserves 3,433,980

- Self Supporting Loans Repayments 431,310

- Movement in Employee Provisions 350,228

 483,139 Write back adjustment -

 3,738,043 Opening funds 4,295,904

 (6,377,834) Net (5,723,487)

 (39,593,081) SHORTFALL MADE UP FROM RATES 40,505,892

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are:

a) The Local Government Reporting Entity

The financial statements forming this report have been prepared on the basis of two funds (Municipal and Trust Funds). Monies held in 
the Trust Fund have been excluded from the financial statements, but a separate statement of those monies appears at Note 17 to these 
financial statements.

b) Basis of Accounting

The General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared to comply with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, the Local
Government Act 1995 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 (incorporating amendments to 30 June 2006).
They have been prepared on the accrual basis under the convention of historical cost accounting with the exception of the revaluation of 
non-current assets where stated.

Non-Current Assets are reported at cost except infrastructure assets and investments which are reported at independent or Council 
valuation. Any surplus on revaluation is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve and excluded from the operating statement. There 
is no policy on regular revaluation, except for infrastructure assets which are revalued every year.

Any gain or loss on disposal of assets is determined as the difference between the written down value of the asset at the time of disposal 
and the proceeds from disposal and is included in the operating results in the year of disposal.

Non-Current Assets are capitalised if they exceed the following Council thresholds:

Land and Buildings $0

Furniture and Equipment $1,000

Plant and Equipment $2,000

Infrastructure $20,000

Software $20,000

c) Depreciation of Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant & Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding freehold land are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a 
straight line basis using rates which are reviewed each reporting period. Major depreciation periods are:

Buildings 50 years

Furniture & Equipment 3 to 10 years

Plant & Equipment 3 to 10 years

Motor vehicle sedans are generally changed over at 60,000 KMs or 2 years, whichever is the earlier date and are depreciated accordingly.
However, Council monitors market factors and may change the vehicles at a more economical time period.

Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and 
held ready for use.
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 Infrastructure Assets

Infrastructure assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis using rates which are reviewed each reporting 
period. Major depreciation periods are:

 Roads 30 years

 Drainage 75 years

 Footpaths 50 years

 Parks and Reserves 25 years

 Other Infrastructure 25 years

Infrastructure assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is 
completed and held ready for use. In accordance with the Local Government (Financial Management Regulations) 1996 section 16, ‘land
under roads’ has not been recognised as an asset in the balance sheet.

d) Employee Entitlements

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, time in lieu leave 
and rostered day off leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provision is made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, time in lieu leave and rostered day off leave expected to be settled within 
12 months are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provision is made in respect of other employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the employer in respect of services provided by employees up to 
reporting date. 

Liabilities for employee entitlements which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are discounted using the rates attaching to 
national government securities at balance date, which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.

e) Investments

All investments, except as disclosed in Note 13 are made in accordance with the Trustees Act and Council’s policy on investment and 
surplus funds. Investments are valued at the lower of cost and market value. Interest revenues on these investments are recognised as they 
accrue.

f) Bad and Doubtful Debts

The financial statements do not make any provision for recalcitrant Rate and Town Planning Scheme debtors as these are secured over the 
property. Provision for other bad and doubtful debts is made when considered necessary. It is expected that some small amounts will be 
unrecoverable during the year and these have been written off by Council.

g) Leases

The City’s rights and obligations under finance leases, which are leases that effectively transfer to the City all of the risks and benefits 
incident to ownership of the leased items, are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The assets are disclosed as plant and equipment under lease, and are amortised to expense over the period
during which the City is expected to benefit from use of the leased assets. Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest 
expense and reduction of the lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Lease liabilities are allocated between current and non-current components. The principal component of lease payments due on or before 
the end of the succeeding year is disclosed as a current liability and the remainder of the lease is disclosed as a non-current liability.

With operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items, 
lease payments are expensed over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 h) Joint Venture

The City’s interest in a joint venture has been recognised in the financial statements by including its share of any assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses of the joint venture within the relevant items reported in the balance sheet and income statement. Information regarding the 
joint venture is disclosed in Note 20.

i) Rates, Grants, Donations and Other Contributions

The rating and reporting periods coincide. Control over assets acquired from rates in the form of sundry debtors and cash is obtained when 
rates are levied.

Grants, donations and other contributions are recognised as revenues when the City obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions. Control over granted assets is normally obtained upon their receipt or upon prior notification that a grant has been secured. 
The timing of commencement of control depends upon the arrangements that exist between the grantor and the City. Contributions not
received over which the City has control are recognised as receivable.

Contributions are recognised as revenues during the reporting period, where they are obtained on the condition that they are expended in a 
particular manner or used over a particular period.

j) Share of Assets in Other Entities

The City’s interest in other entities has been recognised in the financial statement as the relevant share of the book value of the net assets 
of the respective entity as disclosed in Note 19.

k) Receivables

Trade receivables and other accounts receivable are recognised when a contractual obligation or other form of legal entitlement occurs.

l) Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Council becomes obliged to make payments resulting from the 
purchase of goods and services or other contractual arrangements.

m) Borrowings

Loans are recorded and recognised at date of inception at the principal amount.

n) Bonds Payable

Bonds payable are recognised when Council becomes obliged to make future payments subject to a specific condition(s) being adhered to 
by the payee.

o) Rounding

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

p) Comparatives 

Comparative figures (prior years) are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures presented for the current 
financial year. 

q) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i.Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii.For receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included as part of receivables or payables.
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 r) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

s) Revaluation of non-current assets 

Infrastructure assets have been reported in accordance with AASB 116. 

t) Australian equivalent of IFRS

This report shows several changes in terminology, from the previous generally accepted accounting practices (GAAP) with the adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

i. The statement of financial performance is now called the income statement. Capital grants and subsidies; and the profit / loss on
disposal of assets, which have in the past been shown as operating activities, are now shown with contributions from developers as the 
significant non-operating activities. These non-operating activities are added to the operating surplus / deficit to show a net result for the 
City.

ii. The statement of financial position is now called the balance sheet. Interest bearing liabilities have been re-classified as long term 
borrowings. The words “Trade and other” have been added to describe receivables and payables.

iii. Apart from changing the title slightly, there is one significant change in the statement of cash flows. Operating and capital grants and 
subsidies have been reclassified. Instead of being shown as occurring from government activities these are shown as cash flows from 
operating activities or investing activities. 

u) Impairment

In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards the City’s assets, other than inventories, are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication they may be impaired.

Where such an indication exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made in accordance with AASB 136 (Impairment of 
Assets) and appropriate adjustments made.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 2005/06 2004/05

2. CITY FUNCTIONS/
ACTIVITIES BY PROGRAM

 2 (A) GRANTS RECEIVED

Program Description

General Purpose Funding  2,777,056 8,622,525

Governance 4,364 -

Law, Order and Public Safety 424,086 450,990

Health - 779

Education and Welfare  1,862,083 2,057,826

Housing - -

Community Amenities 31,873 221,278

Recreation and Culture 472,537 110,220

Transport  2,543,268 71,516

Economic Services 341,759 150,682

Other Property and Services - -

 9,349,613 Total Grants  8,457,026 11,685,727

 2 (B) FEES AND CHARGES

Program Description

General Purpose Funding 349,303 320,201

Governance 733 5,232

Law, Order and Public Safety 820,378 727,953

Health 193,598 170,627

Education and Welfare 193,633 397,472

Housing 87,514 74,672

Community Amenities  6,376,938 5,630,489

Recreation and Culture  4,302,101 3,792,505

Transport 806,289 234,889

Economic Services  1,364,307 1,214,495

Other Property and Services 248,308 177,875

 13,224,671 Total Fees & Charges  14,743,362 12,746,310

Notes 2(C) to 2(F) provides additional information about infrastructure, property, plant and equipment which has been disclosed in Note 8. These notes do not provide

details of any other Council asset (including Work in Progress) which are shown elsewhere in this annual report.

 2 (C) DEPRECIATION EXPENSE

Program Description

Governance 606,829 473,080

Law, Order and Public Safety - 789

Health 9,055 5,596

Education and Welfare 2,836 4,464

Housing - -

Community Amenities 101,489 613,717

Recreation and Culture  2,266,736 1,860,432

Transport  17,788,528 16,162,520

Economic Services - -

Other Property and Services - -

 16,665,600 Total Depreciation  20,775,473 19,120,599
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 Budget ($) Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 2005/06 2004/05

 2 (D) NON-CASH CONTRIBUTIONS

Program Description

Community Amenities  5,380,629 3,397,214

Recreation and Culture  1,240,020 3,664,785

Transport  12,926,903 9,539,013

Non-cash contributions  19,547,552 16,601,012

 2 (E) ASSETS HELD

 2 (E1) ASSETS HELD - GROSS ASSET VALUE

Program Description

General Purpose Funding  23,014,415 21,175,352

Governance 292,100 232,141

Law, Order and Public Safety  2,344,268 2,286,213

Health 682,032 682,657

Education and Welfare  6,259,583 6,153,635

Housing - -

Community Amenities  4,696,396 4,354,268

Recreation and Culture  85,854,907 82,066,020

Transport  406,815,097 393,575,318

Economic Services 252,790 252,790

Other Property and Services  22,154,133 21,692,632

Total Gross Asset Value  552,365,720 532,471,025

 2 (E2) ASSETS HELD - ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Program Description

General Purpose Funding 467,309 162,758

Governance 127,002 108,564

Law, Order and Public Safety  1,206,912 1,109,773

Health 162,672 140,373

Education and Welfare  1,407,196 1,213,523

Housing - -

Community Amenities  2,430,294 2,212,341

Recreation and Culture  17,149,427 14,885,363

Transport  3,626,552 3,487,975

Economic Services 8,701 2,875

Other Property and Services  5,405,447 4,512,691

Total Accumulated Depreciation  31,991,511 27,836,235

 2 (E3) ASSETS HELD - NET BOOK VALUE

Program Description

General Purpose Funding  22,547,106 21,012,594

Governance 165,098 123,576

Law, Order and Public Safety  1,137,356 1,176,440

Health 519,360 542,283

Education and Welfare  4,852,387 4,940,113

Housing - -

Community Amenities  2,266,102 2,141,928

Recreation and Culture  68,705,480 67,180,657

Transport  403,188,546 390,087,343

Economic Services 244,089 249,915

Other Property and Services  16,748,686 17,179,941

Net Book Value  520,374,209 504,634,790



page  67  

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 2005/06 2004/05

 2 (F) DISPOSED ASSETS

 2 (F1) DISPOSED ASSETS -  PROCEEDS FROM SALE

Program Description

Governance - -

Community Amenities - 117,840

Transport  2,178,909 1,707,887

Other Property and Services - 16,636

 2,378,600 Total Proceeds from Sale of Assets  2,178,909 1,842,363

 2 (F2) DISPOSED ASSETS - WRITTEN DOWN VALUE

Program Description

Governance 150 810

Community Amenities - 127,280

Transport  1,674,733 1,844,726

Other Property and Services - 17,969

- Written Down Value on Sale of Assets  1,674,883 1,990,785

 2 (F3) DISPOSED ASSETS  NET GAINS / (LOSS)

Program Description

Governance (150) (810)

Community Amenities - (9,440)

Transport 504,176 (136,839)

Other Property and Services - (1,333)

- Net Gains / (Loss) on Sale of Asset  504,024 (148,422)

 2 (G) BORROWINGS

 2 (G1) PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING

Program Description

Governance  1,649,639 1,811,133

Housing 650,508 708,815

Recreation & Culture  1,057,004 1,266,020

Transport  4,260,932 4,778,388

Other Property and Services 95,290 161,465

 11,233,320 Principal Outstanding  7,713,373 8,725,821

 2 (G2) PRINCIPAL PAID

Program Description

Governance 161,495 151,927

Housing 58,306 54,693

Recreation & Culture 209,014 201,142

Transport 517,458 639,709

Other Property and Services 66,175 61,554

 880,340 Principal Paid  1,012,448 1,109,025
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 Budget ($) Notes Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06  2005/06 2004/05

 2 (G3) INTEREST PAID

Program Description

 107,800 Governance 107,791 117,360

 44,500 Housing 44,421 48,034

 85,800 Recreation & Culture 84,764 99,019

 400,320 Transport 284,120 231,411

 7,200 Other Property and Services 7,130 12,262

 455,580 Interest Paid 528,226 508,086

3. OPERATING REVENUES & EXPENSES

 3 (A) INCOME STATEMENT (BY NATURE OR TYPE)

Revenue from Ordinary Activities

 39,593,081 Rate Levies  40,505,892 37,072,575

 5,914,585 Sanitation charges  5,899,007 5,204,402

 500,000 Drainage charges 497,408 2,750

 533,270 Security service charges 592,612 481,484

 1,525,060 Other statutory charges  2,313,510 1,990,374

 4,751,756 User charges  5,440,825 5,067,300

 5,891,513 Operating grants & subsidies  5,588,250 5,984,746

 3,306,990 Contributions and reimbursements  3,309,803 1,728,056

 1,335,060 Interest earnings 3(b) 1,670,599 1,487,172

 272,510 Other revenue  1,655,816 344,429

 63,623,825 Sub-Total revenue  67,473,722 59,363,288

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

 (17,541,436) Materials & contracts  (17,166,440) (18,277,636)

 (903,312) Subsidies & donations  (351,383) (839,166)

 (1,964,764) Utility charges  (1,644,141) (1,711,412)

 (645,618) Interest expense  (536,725) (508,086)

 (29,108,114) Employee costs  (28,357,316) (24,924,560)

 (16,665,600) Depreciation  (20,775,473) (19,120,599)

 (66,827,756) Sub-Total expenses  (68,831,478) (65,381,460)

ADD: Non- operating activities

 3,458,100 Capital grants & subsidies  2,858,775 5,700,980

- Contributions from developers 3(d) 19,547,552 16,601,012

- Profit / (Loss) on disposal of assets  504,026 (148,422)

 254,169 NET RESULT  21,552,597 16,135,399

 3 (B) INVESTMENT EARNINGS

 311,200 Reserve Fund 445,108 331,998

 1,023,860 Municipal Fund  1,225,491 1,155,174

 1,335,060 Total Investment Earnings  1,670,599 1,487,172
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

3 (C) NET CURRENT ASSET POSITION

The net current asset position balance carried forward from the previous financial year after adjustment for restricted assets for the purpose of the

2005/06 budget was $3,738,043. The actual net current asset position balance shown in the audited financial report as at 30th June 2006 and after

adjustment for restricted assets was $6,204,055.

3 (D) NON CASH CONTRIBUTIONS

Non cash contributions are disclosed separately as non-operating revenue in the Income Statement to bring to account infrastructure assets

and land acquired from developers. The value of non cash contributions is detailed below. No budget provision was made for these non cash

contributions in the 2005/06 budget.

Nature & Type

Buildings 150,000 -

Roads 11,704,029 8,728,407

Drainage 5,380,629 3,397,214

Footpaths 1,222,874 810,606

Parks & Reserves (& merged improvements) 1,090,020 3,664,785

Total  19,547,552 16,601,012
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 Budget ($) Description  Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The City holds the following cash backed

reserves which are restricted by policy, regulation

 or other external imposed requirements.

Additional information about the reserve

fund accounts and restricted contributions

are shown in Note 14.

Reserve Funds

 15,180 Aged Persons Accommodation  33,497 14,294

 73,770 Aged Services Asset Replacement  255,181 224,564

 386,830 Ellenbrook Community Facilities  860,482 583,273

 979,470 General Insurance 834,712 764,319

 505,640 Gravel Pit Rehabilitation 649,161 354,085

 86,260 Hazelmere / Guildford Drainage   146,155 -

 20,120 Midland District Drainage 880,677 371,297

 40,410 Plant & Equipment  1,188,915 542,464

- Vale Community Reserve 173,680 -

 3,164,410 Waste Management  4,062,103 3,259,304

Restricted Contributions

 35,275 Midland Brick Trust Fund 35,275 35,275

 51,200 Drainage Contributions 26,158 31,249

 234,000 Footpath Contributions 127,714 194,768

- Malaga Parking 44,545 -

 375,000 Public Open Space Contributions  322,028 376,365

 486,875 Roadwork Contributions 640,734 411,501

 6,454,443 Sub-Total - Cash backed Reserves  10,281,017 7,162,758

The City also holds ‘restricted’ funds which are held

and repaid to ratepayers and business.

These funds are detailed in Note 10.

Sundry Bonds and Other Deposits 1,663,112 2,187,274

Total Restricted Cash and Investments 11,944,129 9,350,032

The City also has other ‘unrestricted’ funds which

have arisen from normal business operations.

Unrestricted 6,058,197 4,501,328

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18,002,326 13,851,360
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables

 Rates & ESL Receivables 2,778,721 2,773,091

 Sundry Debtors 3,486,739 899,846

 ATO - Input Tax Claimable (Net) 272,716 726,068

 Self supporting loans receivable 132,479 138,954

 Town Planning Scheme 14 540,338 918,895

 Sub-Total Current Receivables 7,210,993 5,456,854

 Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (70,464) (80,404)

 Total Current Receivables 7,140,530 5,376,450

 Non Current Receivables

 Pensioner Deferred Rates 743,325 686,188

 City of Wanneroo-MRF 21,500 64,503

 Self supporting loans receivable 772,718 1,197,553

 Total Non Current Receivables 1,537,543 1,948,244

 Total Receivables 8,678,073 7,324,694

6. PREPAYMENTS

 Motor Vehicle Registration 42,370 99,595

 Total Prepayments 42,370 99,595

7. INVENTORY

 Materials at Cost 308,895 223,246

 Total Inventory 308,895 223,246
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Buildings Computer  Furniture Plant  Vehicles OA(d)

OPENING NET BOOK VALUE 41,928,223 2,995,276 440,495 1,951,592 7,586,987 39,936 

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Opening Balance (a)

Cost 48,038,767 4,679,962 2,240,889 4,920,330 11,645,002 40,862 

Valuation - - - - - -

Payments for purch / constn

of Capital - 878,989 141,523 247,989 3,989,157 -

of Infrastructure - - - - -

Contributed assets 150,000 - - - - -

Disposal of assets - (1,200) - (54,196) (3,709,356) -

Change in practice 3,273,011 - - - - -

Adjustment / revaluation -

GCA - Closing Balance 51,461,778 5,557,751 2,382,412 5,114,123 11,924,803 40,862 

Less: Accumulated Depreciation

AD -Opening Balance (6,110,544) (1,684,686) (1,800,394) (2,968,738) (4,058,015) (926) 

Depreciation Expense (1,092,686) (573,584) (177,236) (711,621) (2,360,591) -

AD - Disposal of assets - 1,050 - 42,884 2,045,936 -

AD - Change in practice (1,087,090) - (203) 316,675 (311,973) -

AD - Revaluation -

AD Closing Balance (8,290,320) (2,257,220) (1,977,833) (3,320,800) (4,684,643) (926) 

CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 43,171,459 3,300,531 404,579 1,739,323 7,240,160 39,936 

a) Road infrastructure assets were revalued by Council as at 30 June 2006 to a depreciated current replacement cost of $282.51 million,

in addition to $2.12M of other road infrastructure that has not been revalued. The valuation was made on the basis of the depreciated

replacement cost method. The assets were previously revalued by Council as at 30 June 2005. This resulted in a decrease to the asset value of

$9.51 million which has been debited to the asset revaluation reserve.

b) Drainage infrastructure assets were revalued by Council as at 30 June 2006 to a depreciated current replacement cost of $114.37 million. The

valuation was made on the basis of the depreciated replacement cost method. The assets were previously revalued by Council as at 30 June

2005. This resulted in an increase to the asset value of $8.63 million which has been credited to the asset revaluation reserve.

c) Footpath infrastructure assets were revalued by Council as at 30 June 2006 to a depreciated current replacement cost of $19.23 million. The

valuation was made on the basis of the depreciated replacement cost method. The assets were previously revalued by Council as at 30 June

2005. This resulted in an increase to the asset value of $0.15 million which has been credited to the asset revaluation reserve.

d) Several acronyms used in the title row. “WIP” is work in progress. “OI” for long life asset which cannot be categorised into one of the normal

infrastructure classes i.e. roads, drains or footpaths. “OA” is for other assets such as art collections which does not fit easily into an existing

category such as plant, furniture, or one of the infrastructure assets.
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OI(d) Parks Land WIP Roads Drains (b) Footpaths (c) TOTAL

8,568,590 24,010,478 14,926,663 1,766,525 282,793,259 101,876,467 17,516,823 506,401,314

11,474,777 32,317,223 14,926,663 1,766,525 - - - 132,051,000

- - - - 282,793,259 101,876,467 17,516,823 402,186,549

- 1,339,978 - - - - - 6,597,636

- - - (872,450) 11,723,949 433,116 849,662 12,134,277

- 1,090,080 - - 11,704,029 5,380,629 1,222,874 19,547,552

- - - - - - (3,764,752)

(3,135,381) - (370,508) 228,380 - - - (4,498)

 (21,590,283) 6,688,626 (357,932) (15,259,589)

8,339,396 34,747,221 14,556,155 1,122,455 284,630,954 114,378,838 19,231,427 553,488,175

(2,906,187) (8,306,745) - - - - - (27,836,235)

(317,264) (1,016,663) - - (12,073,889) (1,940,292) (511,647) (20,775,473)

- - - - - -  2,089,870

1,087,089 - - - - - - 4,498

- - 12,073,889 1,940,292 511,647 (14,525,828)

(2,136,362) (9,323,362) - - - - - (31,991,512)

6,203,034 25,423,813 14,556,155 1,122,455 284,630,954 114,378,838 19,231427 521,496,663
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Budget ($)  Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

2005/06   Reference 2005/06 2004/05

9. BORROWINGS

 9 (A) LOAN LIABILITIES

Current

- Loan Liability (City of Swan) 766,758 836,764

- Loan Liability (Self Supporting) 132,480 138,954

- Sub-Total - Current borrowings 899,238 975,718

Non- Current 

- Loan Liability (City of Swan) 6,041,417 6,561,844

- Loan Liability (Self Supporting) 772,718 1,188,259

- Sub-Total - Non-current borrowings 6,814,135 7,750,103

 11,233,320 Total Borrowings 7,713,373 8,725,821

9(B) RECONCILIATION OF LOAN LIABILITIES

City of Swan

 7,398,610 Opening balance 7,398,610 6,337,074

 3,500,000 Loans raised - 2,000,000

- Loans transferred 256,346 -

 (880,340) Less: Principal repaid (846,778) (938,464)

 10,018,270 Closing Balance 6,808,178 7,398,610

Self Supporting

 1,357,610 Opening balance 1,327,211 1,497,772

- Loans transferred (256,346) -

 (142,560) Less: Principal repaid (165,669) (170,561)

 1,215,050 Closing Balance 905,196 1,327,211

 11,233,320 Total Liability 7,713,373 8,725,821

  

9(C)  While no new loans were raised during 2005/06; however the City has taken responsibility for a community loan of $256,346 for the 
Midland Sports Association.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

Reference 2005/06 2004/05

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Current

 Sundry Creditors 605,616 492,296

 Trade Creditors 3,336,089 3,840,557

 Sundry Creditors Accruals 267,913 129,396

 Creditors Retention’s 90,346 90,346

 FBT Accrual 54,574 45,608

 Salary & Wages Accrual 286,699 198,260

 Emergency Services Levy 693,811 153,807

 Sub-Total - Current payables 5,335,048 4,950,271

 Non-Current

 Sundry Bonds and Other Deposits 1,663,112 2,187,274

 Sub-Total - Non-current payables 1,663,112 2,187,274

 Total Payables 6,998,160 7,137,545

11. INCOME IN ADVANCE

 Advance Income 2,167,065 1,566,177

 Other 10,000 -

 Total Income In Advance 2,177,065 1,566,177

12. PROVISIONS

 Current

 Annual Leave 2,066,439 1,854,382

 Time in Lieu Leave 133,206 158,391

 Rostered Days Off 135,314 120,080

 Long Service Leave 1,909,136 1,756,999

 Sub-Total - Current provisions 4,244,095 3,889,852

 Non-Current

 Annual Leave 550,126 538,966

 Long Service Leave 369,934 385,109

 Sub-Total - Non-current provisions 920,060 924,074

 Total Provisions 5,164,154 4,813,926

13. INVESTMENTS

 Share in Assets of Other Entities see Note 19 10,985,315 9,144,485

 Total Investments 10,985,315 9,144,485
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

14. RESERVES

 14(A) CASH BACKED RESERVES

Aged Persons Accommodation
The fund was established in 1987/88 to assist

with the future maintenance of Elvire Chalets

aged persons accommodation units. Income is

from residents in-going contributions and the

net result of Elvire Chalet operations.

 14,291 Opening Balance 14,294 13,431

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus - -

889 Interest earnings 910 863

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 18,293 -

 15,180 Closing Balance 33,497 14,294

Aged Services Asset Replacement

Since 2001/02, this reserve has accumulated

funds for the replacement of vehicles and other

assets used for the provision of Aged Care and

related services. Funds are maintained by an annual

transfer of unspent HACC capital grants and a

depreciation provision.

 128,727 Opening Balance 224,564 178,717

 (62,940) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (39,190) (128,021)

 7,983 Interest earnings 9,894 6,015

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 59,913 167,853

 73,770 Closing Balance 255,181 224,564

Ellenbrook Community Facilities

This fund was established in 1994/95 to

provide community facilities and services within

the Ellenbrook Estate. Income is from the Ellenbrook

Joint Venture and matching contributions from

Council’s Municipal Fund.

 514,633 Opening Balance 583,273 501,513

 (606,800) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (342,634) (361,268)

 30,000 Interest earnings 41,531 32,047

 449,000 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 578,312 410,981

 386,830 Closing Balance 860,482 583,273
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

General Insurance

Since 1991/92 this reserve holds the value

of excess on general insurance claims and any

difference between the maximum premium and

standard workers compensation premium paid.

An annual transfer of the difference between the

standard premium payable and the actual premium

is charged under Council Policy.

 945,522 Opening Balance 764,319 989,272  

 (250,000) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (321,196) (408,236)

 58,620 Interest earnings 47,629 50,973

 225,328 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 343,960 132,310

 979,470 Closing Balance 834,712 764,319

Gravel Pit Rehabilitation

Funds from this reserve are used for the

remediation of the existing quarry and to

acquire land for future quarries.

An annual allocation is charged for gravel

which is extracted from the quarry and used

on Council’s works.

 366,888 Opening Balance 354,085 267,878

 (30,000) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (68,304) (62,953)

 22,748 Interest earnings 24,503 19,124

 146,004 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 338,877 130,036

 505,640 Closing Balance 649,161 354,085

Hazelmere / Guildford Drainage

Since 2005/06, this reserve has been used

to upgrade the stormwater drainage system in

Hazelmere and Guildford. Council’s current policy

requires developers to contribute $50,000 per

hectare towards this fund.

- Opening Balance - -

 (80,000) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (6,650) -

 6,260 Interest earnings 6,083 -

 160,000 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 146,722 -

 86,260 Closing Balance 146,155 -

Midland District Drainage Development

Since 1982/83, this reserve has been used to

upgrade the stormwater drainage system in Bellevue

and Midvale. Council’s current policy requires developers

to contribute $50,000 per hectare towards this fund.

 109,339 Opening Balance 371,297 474,629

 (600,000) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (337,857) (681,430)

 6,780 Interest earnings 50,582 29,620

 504,001 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 796,115 548,478

 20,120 Closing Balance 880,677 371,297
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

Plant & Equipment

This reserve finances the purchase of motor

vehicles, plant and equipment associated with

Council’s works. The reserve is funded by an

annual allocation of an amount equivalent to the

plant replacement rate which is charged for plant

used on all Council works.

 129,010 Opening Balance 542,464 323,840

 (1,255,740) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (1,075,447) (1,000,743)

 8,000 Interest earnings 69,719 25,309

 1,159,140 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 1,652,179 1,194,058

 40,410 Closing Balance 1,188,915 542,464

Vale Community Reserve

The Vale Community Facilities and Services

Reserve fund was established in July 2005,

to provide community facilities and services

within the Vale and the region. Income is from the

developers (Multiplex Energy Pty Ltd) of Vale and

matching contributions from Council’s Municipal Fund.

- Opening Balance - -

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (10,000) -

- Interest earnings 1,862 -

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 181,818 -

- Closing Balance 173,680 -

Waste Management

After the amalgamation in 1992/93 of the Sanitation

Reserve and West Midland Rehabilitation Reserve,

this fund has been used to pay for operations and the

development of Council’s sanitation service. Incoming

funds are an annual allocation equivalent to the net

‘surplus’ in the sanitation operation and a plant

replacement component.

 2,740,676 Opening Balance 3,259,304 2,665,646

 (1,137,500) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (830,672) (832,511)

 169,920 Interest earnings 192,125 168,047

 1,391,314 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 1,441,346 1,258,122

 3,164,410 Closing Balance 4,062,103 3,259,304

Midland Brick Trust

Money received for specific works which are

incomplete or still to be performed.

 35,275 Opening Balance 35,275 35,275

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus - -

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus - -

 35,275 Closing Balance 35,275 35,275
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

Drainage Contributions

Money received for specific works which are

incomplete or still to be performed.

 31,200 Opening Balance 31,249 18,294

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (5,091) -

 20,000 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus - 12,955

 51,200 Closing Balance 26,158 31,249

Footpath Contributions

Money received for specific works which are

incomplete or still to be performed.

 194,000 Opening Balance 194,768 203,337

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (67,054) (54,344)

 40,000 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus - 45,775

 234,000 Closing Balance 127,714 194,768

Malaga Parking Contributions

Money received for specific works which are

incomplete or still to be performed

- Opening Balance - -

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus - -

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 44,545 -

- Closing Balance 44,545 -

Public Open Space Contributions

Money received for specific works which are

incomplete or still to be performed.

 375,000 Opening Balance 376,365 376,365

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (148,337) -

- Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 94,000 -

 375,000 Closing Balance 322,028 376,365

Road works Contributions

Money received for specific works which are incomplete

or still to be performed.

 406,874 Opening Balance 411,501 349,078

- Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (181,818) (23,462)

 80,001 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 411,051 85,885

 486,875 Closing Balance 640,734 411,501

SUMMARY

 5,991,435 Opening Balance 7,162,759 6,397,275

 (4,022,980) Less: Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (3,433,980) (3,552,968)

 311,200 Interest earnings 445,108 331,998

 4,174,785 Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 6,107,131 3,986,454

 6,454,440 Closing Balance 10,281,017 7,162,759
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

 14(B) ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE

- Opening Balance 110,180,395 21,385,181

Add revaluation of:

Roads, Streets and Bridges (9,516,394) 57,975,162

Drainage 8,628,918 23,780,290

Footpaths 153,715 3,944,471

Gravel Pit - 2,129,583

Investment in EMRC 1,840,830 965,708

- Closing Balance 111,287,464 110,180,395

15. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

This note summarises payments due for the

operating lease of plant & equipment.

Within one year 37,842 38,269

Between one and two years 32,908 39,882

Between two and five years 27,459 87,253

Later than five years - 11,466

- Total lease commitments 98,209 176,870

16. TOWN PLANNING SCHEME 14

This note is provided for disclosure purposes only.

None of the amounts shown below are recorded

in Council’s Financial Statements.

 200,000 Income 39,497 58,972

 (200,000) Expenditure (39,497) (58,972)

Liabilities

 915,406 Creditors 587,679 986,609

 1,000 Creditors Retention 1,000 1,000

 916,046 Total Liabilities 588,679 987,609

Assets

 24,472 Cash 48,341 68,714

 891,934 Scheme Debtors 540,338 918,895

 916,046 Total Assets 588,679 987,609

Town Planning Scheme No. 14 is a guided scheme designed to provide a coordinated approach to the planning and development of industrial land

to the east of the existing Malaga Industrial area. The City of Swan has no equity in the scheme and all scheme costs are secured by a charge over

land within the scheme area.

Stage 1 of the scheme works was completed in August, 1996 and stage 2 of the scheme works is almost completed. Three outstanding issues

described below are to be resolved, before winding up this Scheme.

1. A Court determination was in favour of the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) in a matter involving the EPA, the City of Swan and a

landowner. The landowner is negotiating with the EPA to subdivide/ develop his property.

2. The recouping of sewer and drainage headwork costs from the Water Corporation based upon agreements.

3. Sale of an un-constructed portion of Glyde Court. See Council’s resolution of 7 April 2005
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

17. TRUST FUNDS

The City has no control over the funds listed

below and these amounts are not included in the

financial statements.

Other Trusts

Opening balance 30,201 30,201

Receipts - -

Payments - -

- Closing balance 30,201 30,201

Add: Unclaimed money - -

Total of monies held in trust 30,201 30,201

18. COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES

 18(A) COMMITMENTS:

Capital expenditure commitments have been

contracted as follows. There were no unfulfilled

contracted capital expenditure commitments

outstanding as at 30 June 2006.

Swan Caring Centre 548,163 -

Wesco Site Decommissioning 4,640 -

- Sub-Total Commitments 522,803 -

 18(B) CONTINGENCIES

Workers Compensation Insurance

- Burning Risk 1,623,106 1,293,043

Litigation

- Trespass claim construction of Malaga Drive 100,980 100,980

- Nielson & Loggie vs. City of Swan 50,000 50,000

- Total Commitments and Contingencies 1,744,086 1,444,023

19. SHARE IN ASSETS OF OTHER ENTITIES

 19(A) WESTERN AUSTRALIA LOCAL GOVERNMENT

ASSOCIATION

This note discloses the equity the City has in

WALGA. In x, the City contributed $8,000 of the

$582,000 to purchase Local Government House

and at that time decided to treat this contribution

as an expense.

WALGA Building

At Valuation 4,500,000 4,400,000

Less: Mortgage (671,050) (772,940)

- Net Equity 3,828,950 3,627,060

- City of Swan’s Equity 53,065 50,779
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

 19(B) EASTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL

COUNCIL INVESTMENT

The City as a member of the Eastern Metropolitan

Regional Council (EMRC) has a 33 % share in the

EMRC’s net assets. The EMRC annual financial

statements provide details of the net assets.

Annual changes in this investment are shown

in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

City’s portion of EMRC’s net assets

Opening Balance 9,144,485 8,178,779

Revaluation 1,840,830 965,706

Close Balance 10,985,315 9,144,485

20. JOINT VENTURE. 

The Altone Park Centre on the corner of

Danube and Benara Roads was completed in

February 1995; and is a joint venture of the

Cities of Swan and Bayswater.

The City of Swan’s component of assets and

liabilities of this facility is as follows - 50% of the

recreation component, 100% of the aquatic component

and 66.7% interest of the library.

The City of Swan is responsible for all operating

expenses incurred. These are included in the

income statement.

Net Operating Expenses 445,907 253,051

The value of the City’s share of the assets and

liabilities committed to the joint venture are included in the balance sheet.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Buildings 4,004,681 3,982,121

Plant & Equipment 87,321 77,837

Infrastructure 605,028 639,343

Written Down Value of Assets 4,697,030 4,699,301

Borrowings

Altone Park Loan Principal Outstanding 217,632 270,236
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

21. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS 

 21 (A) RECONCILIATION OF CASH

 9,174,617 Cash & Cash Equivalents 18,002,326 13,851,360

 21 (B) RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FROM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

 254,169 Net result 21,552,597 16,135,399

Exclude non-operating items

 16,665,600 Amortisation / Depreciation 20,775,473 19,120,599

- Profit / (Loss) on disposal of assets (504,026) 148,422

 (5,158,100) Capital grants & subsidies (2,858,775) (5,700,980)

- Non cash contributions (19,547,552) (16,601,012)

Changes in assets and liabilities during the year

 (161,082) (Increase) / decrease in receivables (2,163,244) (710,388)

 31,200 (Increase) / decrease in prepayments 57,224 (17,820)

 9,856 (Increase) / decrease in inventory (85,650) 24,570

 100,025 Increase / (decrease) in payables (139,385) 1,571,849

 20,000 Increase / (decrease) in income in advance 610,888 376,532

- Increase / (decrease) in provisions 350,228 299,238

 11,761,669 NET CASH IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18,047,778 14,646,410

 21 (C) RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH USED IN

INVESTING ACTIVITIES TO CAPITAL AND

INFRASTRUCTURE EXPENDITURE

- Movement in capital and infrastructure assets 15,095,349 102,464,806

- Write back capital grants & subsidies (2,858,775) (5,700,980)

- Write back asset revaluations 733,761 (87,829,506)

- Write back in kind contributions (19,547,552) (16,601,012)

- Write back of disposed assets net value 1,647,882 1,990,785

 16,665,600 Write back depreciation 20,775,473 19,120,599

 25,675,115 Expenditure on capital & infrastructure 15,873,138 19,145,672

 (2,378,600) Less: Proceeds on disposal (2,178,908) (1,842,365)

NET CASH IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 13,694,230 11,602,330
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 22. FINANCIAL RATIOS
2003/04 2004/05 2005/06

a) Current ratio 84.71% 89.62% 107.07%

Purpose: To assess ability to meet current commitments.

Formula: Current assets minus restricted assets / Current liabilities

minus liability associated with restricted assets.

b) Debt ratio 4.5% 4.14% 3.94%

Purpose: To assess capacity of the City to meet total liability

commitments. Formula: Total liabilities / Total assets.

c) Debt service ratio 2.36% 2.54% 2.28%

Purpose: To assess capacity of the City to meet total debt

commitments from rate income. Formula: Debt service costs

i.e. all principal and interest expenses / Available operating revenue .

d) Rate coverage ratio 59.01% 57.11% 57.18%

Purpose: to assess the dependence of rate income.

Formula: Net rate revenue / Operating revenue.

e) Outstanding rates ratio 5.20% 8.19% 7.48%

Purpose: To assess the impact of uncollected rates on liquidity

and the adequacy of recovery efforts.

Formula: Rates outstanding / Rates collectable.

f) Gross debt to revenue ratio N/A 16.39% 12.36%

Purpose: To identify the exposure of the City to debt,

as an indicator against total revenue.

Formula: Gross debt / Total revenue.

g) Untied cash to trade creditors ratio N/A 117.21% 181.6%

Purpose: To assess ability to meet immediate commitments

from readily available cash.

h) Gross debt to economically realisable assets N/A 7.03% 8.53%

Purpose: To identify the exposure of the City to debt,

as an indicator of the ‘solvency’ of the City. Formula: Gross

debt / Economically realisable assets

i.e. total assets other than infrastructure assets.

Formula: Untied cash / Unpaid trade creditors.

1 Available operating revenue means operating revenue plus any contributions towards the

payment of money borrowed which have not been included in the operating revenue;

and minus specific purpose grants and donations of a capital nature.

23. COUNCILLOR FEES AND ALLOWANCES
Each Councillor was allocated an annual meeting fee of $7,000. The Mayor was allocated an annual meeting fee of $14,000 plus an additional

$53,000 Local Government allowance. The Deputy Mayor received $13,250 as an additional Local Government allowance.

The Local Government (Administration) Regulation 1996 was amended by increasing a range of fees and allowances paid to Councillors.

Allowances paid and expenses reimbursed in 2005/06 in accordance with this Section are as follows:

 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

 171,250 Councillor Allowances 171,250 148,583

 42,000 Telephone 33,600 28,267

 1,530 Child Minding - -

 15,000 Mileage 29,896 17,328

 229,780 Total Members Expenses 234,746 194,178
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 Budget ($) No. of  Rateable Actual ($)

 2005/06 Properties Value $000 2005/06

24. RATES INFORMATION

 24(A) RECONCILIATION OF RATES TO

 GENERAL PURPOSE INCOME

GROSS RENTAL VALUES Min Rate cents in $

 19,992,065 Residential  8.81 27,258 230,001 20,263,116

 1,945,849 Commercial  9.25 372 29,304 2,710,593

 2,501,036 City centre commercial 9.78 245 25,216 2,466,115

 6,119,159 Industrial  9.25 1,845 64,980 6,010,611

 19,241 Brickworks   17.62 8 1,962 345,616

 379,070 Noxious industries  17.62 2 119 20,799

- Interim & Back Rates* - - - (301,600)

 30,956,420 Total GRV General Rates 29,730 351,582 31,515,250

 GRV Minimum Rates Rate $

 2,475,840 Residential  520 2,317 12,371 1,204,840

- Vacant 700 1,968 8,586 1,377,600

 43,725 Commercial  825 55 341 45,375

 42,500 City centre commercial 850 55 325 46,750

 414,150 Industrial  825 483 3,218 398,475

 23,030 Industrial storage units 245 9 7 2,205

 2,475 Brickworks  - - - -

- Interim & Back Rates* - - - (29,151)

 3,001,720 Total GRV Minimum Rates 4,887 24,848 3,046,094

 UNIMPROVED VALUES Min Rate cents in $

 1,999,600 General Rural  0.481 1,026 395,227 1,901,042

 1,310,429 Special Areas  0.485 1,235 277,103 1,343,950

 30,983 Large scale vineyards 0.675 2 4,590 30,983

 43,000 Vineyards & Commercial 0.591 15 7,244 42,812

 35,300 Quarries 0.675 6 5,114 34,516

 465,077 Landscape  0.456 330 108,327 493,969

 507,566 Swan Valley Rural  0.473 331 110,511 522,715

 502,203 Urban Farmland  0.431 248 123,794 533,550

 510,525 Swan Valley Farmland 0.473 297 105,541 499,209

- Interim & Back Rates* - - - 230,644

 5,404,683 Total UV Minimum Rates 3,490 1,137,451 5,663,390

 UV Minimum Rates  Rate $

 120,400 General Rural  700 270 31,319 189,000

 434,000 Special Areas  700 629 83,485 440,300

 3,990 Mining Tenements  700 5 47 3,500

700 Large scale vineyards 700 1 97 700

 144,900 Landscape  700 207 26,737 144,900

 15,400 Swan Valley Rural  700 26 2,690 18,200

 7,425 Urban Farmland  675 13 1,516 8,775

 11,475 Swan Valley Farmland 700 12 1,438 8,400

- Interim & Back Rates - - - 34,740

 738,290 Total Minimum Rates - UV 1,163 147,329 848,515

 40,101,113 TOTAL RATES LEVIED  41,043,249

* Budget provisions for interim and back rates are included within individual budget allocations.
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

RECONCILING RATES TO GENERAL

PURPOSE INCOME

 40,101,113 TOTAL RATES LEVIED 41,043,249 37,513,978

 (1,203,033) Less: Discount Allowed (1,171,699) (1,069,013)

 100,000 Plus Administration Fee 240,155 172,419

 500,000 Plus Interest Charges 257,820 351,180

 120,000 Plus Ex Gratia Rates 152,325 123,239

 (25,000) Less: Rates Written-Off (15,959) (19,228)

 39,593,080 TOTAL MADE UP FROM RATES 40,505,891 37,072,575

The amount made up from rates is reconciled

to the income shown in Note 2 for General

Purpose Income

General Purpose Grant

 1,489,260 General (Untied) Grant 1,362,555 1,445,026

 1,307,200 General (Untied) Road Grant 1,414,501 1,518,001

Other General Purpose Income

 34,560 Pensioners’ Deferred rates interest grant - 30,713

 1,250,000 Interest On Investments 1,596,313 1,398,587

 401,000 Miscellaneous 420,959 439,601

 44,075,100 TOTAL GENERAL PURPOSE INCOME 45,300,219 41,904,503

 24(A) RATING INFORMATION

RATES DISCOUNT / INCENTIVES FOR EARLY PAYMENT

The City offered a 5% discount for rates paid

in full within 35 days of being issued.

In addition to the discount the City also offered

ratepayers and early payment incentive scheme.

To be eligible for entry in the scheme, all rates

levied and any outstanding arrears were required

to be paid in full within 21 days of the issue of the

rate notice. Key statistics are:

 1,203,033 Early payment discount 1,171,699 1,069,013

RATES CONCESSIONS

An urban farmland concession of 28% was offered

to all properties conducting farmland activities consistent

with the relevant provisions of Council policy.

The concession is an incentive for ratepayers to

maintain the district’s rural character.

 70,100 Urban farmland concession 70,104 230,740

A rating concession of 67% of the minimum rates for

industrial properties was provided to strata titled storage

units, which were appropriately zoned and used.

The concession recognises the majority of the strata

units occupy small areas; and generate little and infrequent

use of Council’s facilities and services.
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 Budget ($) Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

 2005/06 Reference 2005/06 2004/05

 54,500 Strata titled unit concession 2,205 52,640

A rating concession of 100% applied to all

privately leased and licensed agreements at

Whiteman Park; for which the City provides

no services. The Valuer General has not provided

valuations and the Water Corporation does not rate

these properties. 20 of the 26 agreements are with

exempt community based groups.

The other properties are small in scale and related

to the tourist trade which enhances the attraction

of the park.

RATES WRITE OFFS

By council delegation or resolution the following

was written of.

 25,000 Rates written off 15,959 7,244

INTEREST CHARGES

During the year Council charged interest

on payment of rates as follows:

9% Interest rate for late payment of rates 9% 8%

5% Interest on rate instalments 5% 5%

 500,000 Amount levied as interest charges 257,820 351,180

RATE INSTALMENTS

A range of formal rate instalments were

offered to ratepayer as follows:

Early payment for discount and draw 29 Jul 05 13 Aug 04

Payment to qualify for discounted amount 15 Aug 05 27 Aug 04

Two instalments

1st payment due 15 Aug 05 27 Aug 04

2nd payment due 15 Nov 05 19 Nov 04

Four instalments

1st payment due 15 Aug 05 27 Aug 04

2nd payment due 14 Nov 05 20 Oct 04

3rd payment due 15 Dec 05 20 Dec 04

4th payment due 15 Feb 06 21 Feb 05
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

25 (A) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on

which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in Note 1 to the accounts.

25 (B) CREDIT RATE RISK

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterpart will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Council. The Council has

adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means

of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Council measures credit risk on a fair value basis. The Council does not have any significant

credit risk exposure to any single counterpart or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.

25 (C) NET FAIR VALUE

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their respective net fair values,

determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 1 to the financial report.

25 (D) INTEREST RATE RISK

The following two tables details this Council’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date and the previous reporting date.

 Period Ending  Average Upto 1 to Over  Non Int. Total

 30th June 2006 Int. Rate 1 Year 5 Years 5 Years Amounts 

  % $ $ $ $ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash  

Cash At Bank  1 to 4.25 416,241  164,176

TPS 14 Bank Account 1 to 4.25 48,341  48,341

Petty Cash/Cash Advances  30,001 30,001

Sub-Total Cash at Bank  464,582  30,001 494,583

Investments
Adelaide Bank BB 6.60 502,158  502,158

Alliance Capital  5.30 619,044  619,044

ANZ  5.83 2,594,969  2,594,969

ANZ F.R Sub Debt A- 6.12 1,000,859  1,000,859

Bank of Qld AA  6.72 504,124  504,124

BankWest A+  5.78 502,079  502,079

Bendigo BBB   6.27 500,000  500,000

CFS - Global Corporate 6.20 500,000  500,000

CTB 24 hr call  5.60 1,964,404  1,964,404

Colonial Finance Ltd A+ 6.08 500,310  500,310

Colonial First State 5.85 833,154  833,154

Endeavour AAA  7.18 1,000,000  1,000,000

F.R.CDO - Beeches 6.80 500,000  500,000

F.R.CDO - Newport AAA 6.60 500,000  500,000

F.R.CDO - Esperance 6.69 500,000  500,000

F.R.CDO - Blue Gum 6.94 500,891  500,891

Glenelg  7.21 1,000,000  1,000,000

Nexus AA+  6.80 501,879  501,879

Quartz AA  7.10 500,000  500,000

Rothschild & Son 6.45 500,000  500,000

Scarborough AA 7.11 1,000,000  1,000,000

Westpac Bank  5.88 502,379  502,379

Westpac FRN  6.14 500,000  500,000

TPS 14  7.20 577,679  577,679

Sub-Total   18,103,929 - - - 18,103,929
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Period Ending  Average Upto 1 to Over  Non Int. Total

 30th June 2006 Int. Rate 1 Year 5 Years 5 Years Amounts 

  % $ $ $ $ $

Receivables

TPS 14 Debtors  7.20  540,338  540,338

Rates Debtors  9.00 2,778,721  2,778,721

Rates Deferred Debtors 5.64 743,325  743,325

Other Receivables - 4,686,153 4,686,153

Sub-Total   3,522,046  540,338 - 4,686,153  8,748,537

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  22,090,557  540,338 - 4,716,154  27,347,049

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Trust Creditors   30,201  30,201

Trade Creditors   5,335,048 5,335,048

Employee Entitlements  5,164,154  5,164,154

Loans  6.45 899,238 4,260,592 2,553,543 - 7,713,373

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  899,238 4,260,592 2,553,543 10,529,403 18,242,776

FINANCIAL ASSETS Period Ending 30th June 2005

Cash

Cash At Bank  1 to 4.25 164,176  164,176

TPS 14 Bank Account 1 to 4.25 68,514  68,514

Petty Cash/Cash Advances  16,994  16,994

Sub-Total Cash at Bank  232,690  16,994  249,684

Investments

Adelaide Bank  6.31 506,473  506,473

Alliance Capital  6.29 342,272  342,272

ANZ Pool  6.05 2,356,414  2,356,414

Argyle AAA  6.83 501,094  501,094

Bank of Qld AA  6.81 504,693  504,693

Bankwest A  6.41 503,743  503,743

Bendigo Bank  6.04 500,000  500,000

Challenge Bank  5.39 485,808  485,808

Citibank  5.81 500,000  500,000

Colonial Finance Ltd A+ 6.17 500,688  500,688

Colonial First State - Global 6.20 500,000  500,000

Colonial First State 5.16 1,129,983  1,129,983

Commonwealth Bank 5.10 1,156,112  1,156,112

Endeavor AAA  7.00 1,000,000  1,000,000

Flinders AA  7.17 1,000,000  1,000,000

Granite AA  6.91 1,000,000  1,000,000

Nexus AA+  7.17 503,132  503,132

Rothschild & Son 6.16 500,000  500,000

TPS 7.20 978,256  978,256

Sub-Total   14,468,668 - -  14,468,668



Financials

City of Swan Annual Report 2005 – 2006

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Period Ending  Average Upto 1 to Over  Non Int. Total

 30th June 2006 Int. Rate 1 Year 5 Years 5 Years Amounts 

Receivables

TPS 14 Debtors  7.20  918,895  918,895

Rates Debtors  5.00 2,773,091  2,773,091

Rates Deferred Debtors 5.64 686,188  686,188

Other Receivables  3,026,921  3,026,921

Sub-Total   3,459,279  918,895  3,026,921  7,405,095

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  18,160,637  918,895  3,026,921  22,123,447

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Trust Creditors   30,201 30,201

Trade Creditors   4,950,271 4,950,271

Employee Entitlements  4,813,926 4,813,926

Loans  6.46 975,718  4,238,592  3,511,511  8,725,821

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  975,718  4,238,592  3,511,511  9,794,398  18,520,219

Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

Reference 2005/06 2004/05

26. SUPERANNUATION 

The City of Swan complies with the minimum obligations

under federal law and contributes in respect of its employees

to the WA Local Government Superannuation Plan.

The Council contributes in respect of certain of its employees

to an accumulated benefit superannuation fund established in

respect of all Municipalities in the state. In accordance with

statutory requirements, the Council contributes to the

WA Local Government Superannuation Plan amounts nominated

by the Council. As such, assets are accumulated in the plant

to meet members benefits as they accrue.

For this reason no liability of the Council has been recognised

as at the reporting date in respect of superannuation

benefits for its employees.

Superannuation contributions paid 2,410,880 2,331,070

27. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

28. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

 As at balance date 662 644
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Description Actual ($) Actual ($)

Reference 2005/06 2004/05

29. EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

Shown below in bands of $10,000, is the number of employees

the City entitled to an annual salary of $100, 000 or more.

Based on guidance from the DLGRD, ‘annual salary’ only includes

the cash component of any remuneration.

 Annual salary entitlements

 $100,000 to $109,000 - 1

 $110,000 to $119,000 4 3

 $160,000 to $169,000 - 1

 $170,000 to $179,000 1 -

 TOTAL  5 5

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or may significantly

affect the operations of the City, the results of those operations, or the state of the affairs of the City in future years.

31. IMPACT OF AIFRS

31(A) RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT 1 JULY 2004

There were no material differences between Equity in the opening Australian equivalents to IFRS balance sheet and the Equity presented in the 1

July 2004 balance sheet under previous GAAP.

31(B) RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT 30TH JUNE 2005

There were no material differences between Equity in the 30 June 2005 balance sheet presented under Australian equivalents to IFRS and the Equity

presented in the 30 June 2005 balance sheet under previous GAAP.

31(C) RECONCILIATION OF NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2005

There were no material differences between the Net Result for the year ended 30 June 2005 presented under Australian equivalents to IFRS and the

Net Result presented for the year ended 30 June 2005 under previous GAAP.

31(D) NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2005

There were no material differences between the Cash Flow Statement presented under Australian equivalents to IFRS and the Cash Flow Statement

presented under previous GAAP. Under Australian equivalents to IFRS, interest bearing liabilities have been re-classified as long term borrowings.

There are no other changes to the Cash flow statement as a result of AIFRS
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